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To the Lord Mayor and Aldermen  

You are invited to attend a Risk Management & Audit 
Committee Meeting to be held in Meeting Room 1, Level 1, 
Civic Centre, Harry Chan Avenue, Darwin, on Friday, 28 
October 2016, commencing at 9.00 am. 

     A MALGORZEWICZ 
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/1

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/1 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 8930 0539. 

CITY OF DARWIN 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT COMMITTEE 

FRIDAY, 28 OCTOBER 2016 

MEMBERS: Mr Iain Summers (Chairman); Member G J Haslett; Member M 
Palmer;  Mr Craig Spencer. 

OFFICERS: Acting Chief Executive Officer, Ms Anna Malgorzewicz;  General 
Manager Corporate Services, Dr Diana Leeder;  Team Coordinator 
Risk Audit & Safety, Mr Tony Simons;  Finance Manager, Mr Miles 
Craighead; Manager Strategy & Outcomes, Ms Vanessa Green; 
Executive Assistant Corporate Services, Ms Jessica Eves; Executive 
Assistant Corporate Services, Ms Julie Gordon. 

GUESTS: Representatives from Merit Partners will be in attendance between 
10:00 – 11:00am. 

Enquiries and/or Apologies:  Jessica Eves 
E-mail j.eves@darwin.nt.gov.au   -   PH: 89300 539 

OR Phone Committee Room 1, for Late Apologies  -  PH: 89300 519 

Committee’s Responsibilities 

THAT pursuant to Local Government Act Section 32(2)(b), Council delegate to the 
Risk Management & Audit Committee the powers to make decisions relating to: 

 follow up issues arising from internal and external audits
 the management of outstanding and completed audit issues registers
 the receipt and acceptance of strategic and operational risk assessments
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/2

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/2 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 8930 0539. 
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13. CLOSURE OF MEETING ............................................................................200 
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/3 

Risk Management & Audit Committee Meeting – Friday, 28 October 2016 
 
 

  

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/3 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 89300 0539. 

1. MEETING DECLARED OPEN 
 
The Chairman declared the meeting open at __________a.m. 
 
 
 
2. APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
 Common No. 2695036 
 
2.1 Apologies 
  
THAT the apology from Member _________, be received.  
 
 
2.2 Leave of Absence Granted 
 
THAT it be noted Member M Palmer is an apology due to a Leave of Absence 
previously granted on 27 September 2016, for the period 13 October 2016 to 17 
October 2016. 
 
 
 
3. ELECTRONIC MEETING ATTENDANCE 
  Common No. 2221528 
 
3.1 Electronic Meeting Attendance Granted 
  
Nil 
 
 
 
4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST OF MEMBERS AND STAFF 

Common No.  2752228 
 
4.1 Declaration of Interest by Members 
  
 
4.2 Declaration of Interest by Staff 
 
  
 
5. CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 

Common No. 1944604 
 

Nil 
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/4 

Risk Management & Audit Committee Meeting – Friday, 28 October 2016 
 
 

  

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/4 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 89300 0539. 

6. WITHDRAWAL OF ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority that all Information Items 
and Officers Reports to the Risk Management & Audit Committee Meeting held on 
Friday, 28 October 2016 be received and considered individually.  
 
 
 
7. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES PERTAINING TO THE PREVIOUS RISK 

MANAGEMENT & AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
THAT the Committee resolve that the minutes of the previous Risk Management & 
Audit Committee Meeting held on Friday, 26 August 2016, tabled by the Chairman, 
be received and confirmed as a true and correct record of the proceedings of that 
meeting. 
 
 
 
8. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES PERTAINING TO THE 

PREVIOUS RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
8.1 Business Arising 
 
 
 
9. DEPUTATIONS AND BRIEFINGS 
 
9.1 2015/2016 Financial Statements 

Common No. 2251082 
 
MunLi Chee and Candice Thomson from Merit Partners will be in attendance from 
10:00am to brief the Committee on 2015/2016 Financial Statements. 
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ENCL: 
YES 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE/OPEN 

AGENDA ITEM: 10.1 

INVESTING REVIEWS 

REPORT No.: 16A0121 MC:je  COMMON No.: 3236868 DATE: 28/10/2016

 
Presenter: Manager Finance, Miles Craighead 
 
Approved: General Manager Corporate Services, Diana Leeder 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee on the current status of: 
 
 Outstanding Audit Issues 146 (KPMG report February 2016 focussing on investing 

internal controls). 
 Amicus review of City of Darwin Investment Policy, (focussing on strategy). 
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 
Outcome 
5.3 Good governance 
Key Strategies 
5.3.3 Understand and manage Council’s risk exposure 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 Aspects of the KPMG report around monitoring of investment confirmations and 

controls over access to the Excel worksheets on investing have been 
implemented. 

 Due to resourcing issues and prioritisation of the financial statements and long 
term financial plan it has not been possible to finalise the Amicus report on the 
investing policy and strategies. 

 The Amicus report, policies and procedures will be finalised in conjunction with 
management before the next Committee meeting. 
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PAGE: 2 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0121 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  INVESTING REVIEWS 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16A0121 MC:je entitled Investing Reviews, be received 

and noted. 
 
B. THAT issues 146.1 and 146.3 in the Outstanding Audit Issues Register be 

designated complete. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Investments Internal Audit Report 
Report No. 16A0032 MC:mp (18/03/16)  Common No. 3236868  
 
A. THAT Report Number 16A0032 MC:mp entitled Investments Internal Audit 
Report, be received and noted. 
 
B. THAT the following agreed management actions be added to the Outstanding 
Audit Issues register: 
 
 Ensure the officer executing the transaction is independent of the officer 
receiving the investment confirmation. The officer receiving the investment 
confirmation should execute appropriate verification procedures to validate that the 
transaction was appropriate. 
 Conduct a review of the Investment procedures and include in the document 
future review dates and last approval date. 
 Put in place access controls and spreadsheet protection over the Cash Flow 
and Investment Workbook. 
 The review cycle for Policy No. 024 - Investment Policy be updated to 
correspond with the Local Government Investment Guidelines with an annual 
period of review. 
 Remove specific mention of the TIO as an acceptable approved instrument 
issuer from the investing policy. 
 
C. THAT the Committee recommends that at the next annual review of Policy 
No. 024 - Investment Policy that consideration be given to: 
 
 better informing the investment strategy with reference to the Long Term 
Financial Plan. 
 obtaining independent licenced financial advice about  investment options, 
within the capacity available from the government guidelines. 
 
DECISION NO.21\4217 (18/03/16)  
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PAGE: 3 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0121 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  INVESTING REVIEWS 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Discussion on Outstanding Audit Issue 146: 
 
146.1  Ensure the officer executing the transaction is independent of the officer 
receiving the investment confirmation. The officer receiving the investment 
confirmation should execute appropriate verification procedures to validate that the 
transaction was appropriate. 
 
The independent officers with responsibility for managing and reviewing the 
confirmations are the Financial and Assistant Accountants. They keep a mirror Excel 
worksheet file of the investments and undertake a reasonable review of the 
confirmations as to source, authenticity and authorisation. References and 
comments relating to the confirmations received are inserted in the mirror file 
alongside the related investment. Any comments and any issues, concerns or 
queries are required to be raised with the Finance Manager or General Manager 
Corporate Services.   
 
146.2 Conduct a review of the Investment procedures and include in the document 
future review dates and last approval date. 
 
It is proposed to update the policy and procedures based on the management 
responses and outstanding audit issues following this report, the finalisation of the 
Amicus August 2016 report and prior to the next Committee meeting. 
 
146.3 Put in place access controls and spreadsheet protection over the Cash Flow 
and Investment Workbook. 
 
Access controls have been placed over the investment Excel worksheet file by the 
Management Accountant for use as/if required by Officers reporting to her. Read 
only access is available for other staff as/if required.   
 
146.4 The review cycle for Policy No. 024 - Investment Policy be updated to 
correspond with the Local Government Investment Guidelines with an annual period 
of review. 
 
This will be included as a result of the review of policy, strategy and procedure.   
 
146.5 Remove specific mention of the TIO as an acceptable approved instrument 
issuer from the investing policy. 
 
Council will not be investing in the TIO and this is being removed from the policy as 
part of the review. However it is considered best to deal with all policy review 
matters, including strategic issues resulting from the Amicus report, at the same time 
rather than piecemeal.   
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PAGE: 4 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0121 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  INVESTING REVIEWS 
 
 
Discussion on Amicus report (August 2016): 
 
This report was commissioned following the KPMG report with the objective of 
identifying opportunities to optimise the existing strategy. The terms of reference 
leading to the Amicus report are provided in Attachment A for information. 
 
Due to the staff/resourcing situation around the financial statements, it has not been 
possible to carry out sufficient internal and management consultation to finalise the 
report. This is expected to be completed before the next Committee meeting.   
 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
In preparing this report, the following City of Darwin officers were consulted: 
 
 Management Accountant 
 Finance Officer (Investing) 
 Assistant Accountant 
 
In preparing this report, the following External Parties were consulted: 
 
 Amicus principal, Moray Vincent. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
A review of policy, procedures and strategy is proposed to be completed prior to the 
next meeting of the Committee. 
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
There are no significant budget implications and the Amicus report has been funded 
from within the internal audit budget. Some additional effort is required but at this 
stage should be achievable within current resources. If it is decided to engage 
ongoing independent specialist advice it is expected that this would be on a costs 
and benefits basis and covered by improved investing results. 
 
RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The advice received, considerations and ultimately any decisions on investing must 
be prudent and comply with legal requirements. The focus of investing review at this 
stage is to achieve more without any increase in risk, noting that ultimately it is the 
Council that determines its risk profile within the legal framework.   
 
The details of the legal framework were included in the earlier KPMG report and are 
not reiterated here. 
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PAGE: 5 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0121 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  INVESTING REVIEWS 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The terms of reference for the Amicus report specifically addressed ethical and 
environmental investing and identified a number of practical issues. These matters 
will be further discussed with the committee at its next meeting. 
  
COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MILES CRAIGHEAD DIANA LEEDER
MANAGER FINANCE GENERAL MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES
 
For enquiries, please contact Miles Craighead on 8930 0523 or email: 
m.craighead@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment A: Terms of Reference - Review of City of Darwin Investing 
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TERMS OF REFERENCE  

REVIEW OF CITY OF DARWIN INVESTING 

The 2016/17 internal audit plan includes a strategic review of investing.  

The process is managed through the Corporate Services Department and the 
Finance Section. 

Initial contact for establishing the audit process will be managed through the Team 
Coordinator, Risk Audit & Safety, Mr Tony Simons. 

The principal contact during the conduct of this audit and responsibility for 
preparation of management responses to the audit will be the Manager Finance, Mr 
Miles Craighead. 

REVIEW OBJECTIVES 

The main objectives of this strategic review are to provide a written report covering: 
 

1. Any opportunities for Council to amend its policy, strategy and tactics so as to 
achieve better portfolio performance within the statutory constraints for the 
Northern Territory Local Government and without undertaking any significant 
additional risk. 

 
2. If the Council was to undertake additional risk to target more return what an 

example/s of that might be along with commentary on the risk implications. 
 

3. The “business case” for regular ongoing investment advice. 
 
While not a main objective the review does not preclude commentary on any other 
issues whatsoever relevant to managing investing such as risk, legal compliance, 
general policy improvements and internal controls etc. 
 

SPECIFIC REVIEW REQUIREMENTS 

The following should be specifically addressed in the review: 

1. Risk:  The Council manages public funds and the review should 
fundamentally assume that the Council wishes to take low risk, conservative 
approach to its investing that focusses on the retention of capital rather than 
maximising returns.  If there are any observations that Councils policy and 
practices are inadvertently undertaking a higher level of risk this should be 
drawn to its attention.  As stated above under objectives the review should 
also cover if the Council was to undertake additional risk to target more return 
what an example/s of that might be along with commentary on the additional 
risk implications. 

2. Short term money market:  the current legislation and guidelines allow this as 
an investing option subject to requirements.  The review should specifically 
address whether on a risk, costs and benefits basis there is an opportunity to 
specifically include this in the policy and actual strategy/tactics. 
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3. Longer term investments:  Currently the policy is fairly restrictive.  The review
should outline a basis for determining how much of the investing portfolio
might be short, long or otherwise and what factors to be aware when investing
for longer terms.

4. Green/environmental and ethical investments:  The review should provide
background and guidance on this approach to investing.  If Council would like
to include something along those lines in its policy what wording options it
might look at.

5. Products:  The main focus has been on bank deposits. Typically Council has
not made much (if any) use of FRN’s and other products.  Are there
opportunities to include these in the portfolio that are likely to lie within the
Council’s risk profile appropriate to public funds?

6. Security and ratings:  Commentary on ratings from agencies can be included
as well as security issues such as prime v subordinated bank debt and other
matters to be aware of when assessing risks of products being considered.

7. Bank subsidiaries:  sometimes sales people claim the subsidiary acquires an
assumed rating from the parent company.  How much reliance should be
placed on these sort of statements from sales people?

8. Policy v strategy and tactics:  Should the Council have further written
guidelines such as a strategy?

Fee Quotation or Estimate 

Council requires a brief written proposal referring to the terms of reference and 
including a quote or estimate of costs including any related expenses/disbursements.   

The estimated cost basis or a quote for the following additional services should be 
separately identified and not included in the above: 

1. Attendance in Darwin.  If required this attendance is likely to be less than a
half day and include a meeting with the Risk Management and Audit
Committee to be held on 26 August 2016 to discuss the review.

2. Regular ongoing investment advice to implement the recommended strategy.

The proposal should include sufficient information to satisfy the Council that the 
adviser meets the following minimum requirements: 

 Independence (no conflicts of interest).
 Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL).
 Appropriate liability insurance cover of not less than $10M.
 Wide experience which should include Local Government.

The work should commence as soon as possible after 1 July 2016 with a draft report 
to be provided by the end of July.   
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ENCL: 
YES 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE/OPEN 

AGENDA ITEM: 10.2 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

REPORT No.: 16A0122 MC:je  COMMON No.: 2251082 DATE: 28/10/2016

 
Presenter: Manager Finance, Miles Craighead 
 
Approved: General Manager Corporate Services, Diana Leeder 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to consider: 
 
 The suitability for certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Annual 

Financial Statements (for inclusion in the Annual Report and presentation to 
Council before lodgement with the Minister and the Northern Territory Grants 
Commission in accordance with the statutory requirement).  

 
 The draft Audit Reports. 
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 
Outcome 
5.1 Quality service 
Key Strategies 
5.1.1 Provide quality service outcomes by ensuring that Council’s processes and 

systems are effective and efficient 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 Final drafts of Council's Financial Statements, Audit Reports, Management 

Summary and the Audit Closing Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 are 
provided for consideration and a recommendation to Council. 

 The draft audit reports indicate that Council has achieved an unqualified audit. 
 The Committee has the opportunity to discuss the Statements and Audit Reports 

with Council’s Auditors in attendance. 
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PAGE: 2 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0122 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

2016 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16A0122 MC:je entitled Audited Financial Statements for 

the Year Ended 30 June 2016, be received and noted. 
 
B. THAT the draft Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 are 

suitable for certification by the Chief Executive Officer for inclusion in the 
Annual Report and presentation to Council. 

 
C. THAT the draft Finance Overview on the Financial Statements be endorsed for 

inclusion in the Annual Report. 
 
D. THAT the final management responses to audit observations be tabled at the 

first 2017 Risk Management and Audit Committee meeting. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Nil 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The draft Audit Reports, Management Summary and audited Financial Statements 
have been prepared for the year ended 30 June 2016, (refer to Attachments A, B 
and C).   
 
Last year Council abbreviated the “Management Analysis and Discussion” on the 
Financial Statements and rebadged it “Finance Overview”. The same “Finance 
Overview” approach for the year ended 30 June 2016 has resulted in the draft at 
Attachment B for consideration. Merit Partners have been asked to provide 
comment on the adequacy of this report in addition to the audit opinion on the 
financial statements. This aspect of the audit will be taking place in the days 
immediately prior to this meeting. 
 
It is pleasing to note that the draft audit reports are without qualification. 
 
All observations and recommendations are agreed and should be added to the 
Register of Outstanding Audit Issues to be actioned. 
 
Council’s auditors, Merit Partners, will attend the Committee meeting at 10:00 a.m. 
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PAGE: 3 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0122 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

2016 
 
 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
In preparing this report, the Executive Leadership Team and following City of Darwin 
officers were consulted: 
 
 Management Accountant  

 
In preparing this report, the following External Parties were consulted: 
 
 Merit Partners  
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
Preparation of the statements has been based on past practices and policies in line 
with the previous years with the main exception of the voluntary adoption of the 
South Australian (SA) Local Government Model financial statements and guidelines.  
This has been adopted as the preferred approach by LGANT and its Finance 
Reference Group (FRG) assisted by a separate FRG working group. It is expected to 
become mandatory in future years.   
 
The Financial Ratios in the SA model have not been included this year but in the 
meantime those previously endorsed for the City by RMAC are included in the 
Finance Overview and Annual Report with appropriate explanations. 
 
The accounting policies contained within the audited Financial Statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2016, once presented to Council become the operative and 
official policies that year in accordance with City of Darwin Policy No. 022 - 
Statement of Significant Accounting Policies. 
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
The statements are indicative of fiscal responsibility and accountability. There are no 
concerns in relation to the Council’s financial position. 
 
RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Council is required to submit audited financial statements to the Department of Local 
Government by no later than 15 November each year under Part 10.7 (132) (b) of 
the Local Government Act. Council is also required to submit its audited Financial 
Statements to the Northern Territory Grants Commission under Regulation 17 (1) (a) 
of the Local Government (Accounting) Regulations. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Nil 
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PAGE: 4 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0122 MC:je 
SUBJECT:  AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

2016 
 
 
COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MILES CRAIGHEAD DIANA LEEDER
MANAGER FINANCE GENERAL MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES
 
For enquiries, please contact Miles Craighead on 8930 0523 or email: 
m.craighead@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment A: Draft Audit Reports and Audit Closing Report for the year ended 30 

June 2016 
Attachment B: Finance Overview (Management Summary) 
Attachment C: Financial Statements for the year ended 2016 
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28 October 2016 
 
Private and confidential 

The Council  
City of Darwin 
GPO Box 84 
DARWIN  NT  0801 
 
 
 

Dear Council Members 

We have completed our audit of City of Darwin (the Council) for the year ended 30 June 2016. 

We confirm that we are prepared to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements 
in the form that appears in Appendix A, provided management, you or the Risk Management and 
Audit Committee make no further changes to the financial statements before signing. 

This report is intended solely for the use of the Council, the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee, other members of the Executive Committee and senior management, and should not 
be used for any other purpose nor given to any other party without our prior written consent. 

We would like to thank your staff for the assistance provided to us during the engagement. 

I look forward to the opportunity of discussing with you any aspects of this report or any others 
issues arising from our work. 

Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
MunLi Chee 
Partner/Director 
 
cc Mr Iain Summers, Chairman, Risk Management and Audit Committee 
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City of Darwin 
Audit Closing Report As at and For the Year Ended 30 June 2016 

 

  
 

1. Executive Summary 
We have completed the audit of the financial statements of City of Darwin (“the Council”) in accordance 
with the Audit Engagement Letter provided to the Council on 6 May 2016. 

As discussed in our audit planning meeting with the Council’s Finance Team on 19 May 2016, we 
identified the following areas of audit focus: 

 Revenue received in advance 

 Fixed Assets Valuation and Ownership 

 Street Lighting fees, maintenance and ownership 

 Residual Values Infrastructure Assets 

 Restricted Reserves 

 Financial Statement Presentation 

 Compliance with legislation and government policies 

 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 

This letter is prepared to communicate matters that are directly relevant to the financial statements of 
the Council and summarises the results of our audit work. 

These results include: 

 Summary of adjusted and unadjusted audit differences, if any; 

 Assessment of the control environment; 

 Conclusion over the elements of accounting practice, highlighting any issues, if any; and 

 Other matters considered important to communicate in the report. 

This letter details audit issues and recommendations issued to management incorporating management 
responses, which is outlined in Section 1. 

This letter also identified a number of opportunities where the Council may consider implementing to 
continue to improve on its control environment. These are also outlined in Section 4 of this report. 

In conclusion, the audit of the financial statements of City of Darwin for the year ended 30 June 2016 
has been successfully completed by the mutually agreed due date with the issue of our 
unqualified/unmodified audit opinion report 

.
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City of Darwin 
Audit Closing Report As at and For the Year Ended 30 June 2016 

 

  
 

2. Significant areas of audit focus 
As communicated to you in our audit plan on 12 August 2016, we identified areas of audit focus for the 
2015/16 financial statements audit. We have completed our planned audit procedures and outline below 
the results and findings: 

Areas of Audit 
Focus 

Audit procedures performed Current Status 

Revenue received 
in advance 

We obtained and reviewed the Council’s 
position in relation to the recognition of 
Revenue Received in Advance, in particular, 
Rates Revenue, to determine suitable 
application in line with the requirements of the 
Accounting Standards. 

 

The Council has deemed that 
monies received in excess of 
rates due were an 
overpayment and are classified 
as a liability at year end  

We suggest the Council adopts 
a formal policy in relation to this 
matter. 

Management Response: 
Management plans to present 
a formal policy at the next 
Ordinary Council and Risk 
Management and Audit 
Committee Meetings. 

Fixed assets 
valuation and 
ownership 

We obtained and reviewed the movements and 
calculations in the Council’s fixed assets 
register. 
A sample of additions and disposals were 
checked against relevant supporting 
documents (e.g. invoices, contracts). 
Repairs and maintenance have been reviewed 
to ensure that relevant transactions of a capital 
nature have not been omitted from being 
capitalised. 
Valuation reports were reviewed to ascertain 
assets were valued appropriately and the 
methods and assumptions used by the valuers 
appeared sound and robust and in compliance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards. 
Fixed asset useful lives and depreciation rates, 
depreciation and amortisation accounts have 
been tested to ascertain their reasonableness. 

We have also reviewed the Council and RMAC 
minutes and correspondence from the Chief 
Officer’s Group for any reference to indicators 
of impairment. 

No issues were noted. 
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Areas of Audit 
Focus 

Audit procedures performed Current Status 

Financial 
Statement 
Presentation 

We have reviewed the draft financial 
statements of the Council ensuring the 
accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards and Local 
Government Act and Regulations.   

No issues were noted. 

 

Street lighting 
maintenance and 
ownership 

We reviewed the Council’s current position in 
relation to street lighting issues and potential 
impacts on the Council’s profit and loss and 
balance sheet. 

 

The Council anticipates the 
ownership, control and 
management of all street 
lighting within its municipality 
will take effect from 1 January 
2018. 

There was a positive impact on 
the 2016 Income Statement as 
a result of the deferral resulting 
in past accruals being 
reversed. The Council has 
created a Street Lighting 
Reserve of $3.3 million at 30 
June 2016 as a transitional 
measure for the expected 
takeover of the responsibility 
for street lighting repairs, 
maintenance and capital 
renewals. 

Restricted 
Reserves 

We obtained and reviewed the Council’s 
support over restricted cash and reserve 
accounts.  We reviewed and tested the 
accuracy of the information within the accounts 
to relevant support.  Additionally we reviewed 
budgets and funding agreements to ensure that 
balances are complete at reporting date. 

No issues were noted. 

 

Residual Values 
Infrastructure 
Assets 

We have reviewed the support provided by the 
Council in relation to Residual Values for 
Infrastructure Assets.  We have assessed the 
potential impacts of the changes as they apply 
to the Council considering the assessment and 
representations provided to us from the 
Council. 

No issues were noted. 

 

Compliance with 
legislation and 
government 
policies 
 

We considered the requirements of applicable 
legislation and government policy by review of 
relevant Acts, Regulations and agreements.  
We have also performed sufficient audit 
procedures over key financial requirements 
imposed on the Council. 

No issues were noted. 
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Areas of Audit 
Focus 

Audit procedures performed Current Status 

Compliance with 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
 

We performed audit procedures over year end 
reconciliations and reviewed the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Local Government 
Act and Regulations. 

Other than the matters 
mentioned above, no other 
significant issues were noted. 
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We have also outlined below our observations arising from the audit that we believe are significant and 
relevant to you, including our view in relation to the accounting practices of the Council. 

Elements of 
accounting 
practices 

Observations 

Accounting policies 

No accounting standards had been adopted earlier than the applicable dates 
with the exception of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. 
New standards/revised standards/ interpretations/ amending standards 
issued applicable to the current reporting period did not have a financial 
impact on the Council. The impacts of future accounting standards are not 
yet determinable at this stage. 

Accounting 
estimates 

The estimates and associated assumptions made by management in the 
preparation of the financial statements appear reasonable.  

No other accounting assumptions or estimates have been identified that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next accounting period. 

Financial statements 
disclosures 

Financial Statements disclosures generally appear reasonable in accordance 
with the agreed Financial Statements SA template and the Local 
Government Regulations. 

A disclosure that can be improved is Note 5(b) Trade and Other Receivables. 
Per AASB 7, an entity shall disclose an analysis of the age of financial assets 
that are past due but not impaired, an analysis of financial assets that are 
individually determined to be impaired and a reconciliation of changes in the 
allowance account during the period for each class of financial assets. The 
Council’s 2015/16 Financial Statements do not include this information. 

Management Response: 

This will be included in the 2016/17 Financial Statements. 

Segregation of 
duties 

There was no segregation of duties issues noted. Review and approval by 
delegated authorities are in place. 

Other matters 
Weaknesses in internal control environment have been detailed at Appendix 
D. 
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3. Other Audit and Accounting Issues 
Our role as auditor requires a thorough assessment of audit risk in the Council.  This includes having 
discussions with management, remaining abreast of your business and continuously looking forward at 
changes on the horizon and their impact on the business.  Apart from the identification of the areas of 
audit focus, below are the other key audit and accounting issues that were considered during our audit: 

 

Risk Audit Procedures / Summary of Results / 2017 Planning Focus 

Going Concern Audit Procedures 

We reviewed the Council’s financial statements including revenue streams 
and  noted the following: 

a. the core revenue of the Council are from rates, user charges and fees 
and statutory rates, which comprises about 90% of the Council’s total 
revenue; 

b. the Council continues to receive funds from the Commonwealth and NT 
Governments. These programs are generally on an annual arrangement 
basis and comprise about 6% of the Council’s total revenue. 

We also reviewed the Council’s minutes of meetings to account for any 
events that could impact the viability of the Council’s operations in the future. 

Summary of Results 

Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded that the Council has 
a viable operation and will continue to operate as a going concern for the 
next 12 months.  

In addition, we discussed with the Finance Team and reviewed legal 
expenses and noted that the Council does not have significant pending 
lawsuits that may negatively impact on financial viability of the Council. 

The Council has an on-going external borrowing of which the Council pays a 
fixed amount on a monthly basis until November 2027.  The Council appears 
to have met its ongoing repayment obligations. 

We also reviewed on a test basis compliance with grant monies in 
accordance with funding bodies’ agreements. 

As at 30 June 2016, the Council has high liquid assets that will be able to 
support its operations in the next 12 months. 

2017 Planning Focus 
Merit Partners will continue to review the contractual arrangements of the 
Council in terms of its government funding and external borrowing apart from 
the review of the financial statements for any going concern indicators. 

Impairment of 
financial and non-
financial assets (i.e 
Receivables, Short-
term investments, 
Infrastructure) 

Financial Assets (which includes receivables and short-term 
investments) 
Receivables 

Our review of the doubtful debts report indicates that some customer 
repayments are behind schedule. These customers are mostly specifically 
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Risk Audit Procedures / Summary of Results / 2017 Planning Focus 

identified and an allowance is provided for doubtful debts.   

In relation to the Infringement debtors, the Council provides for impairment 
allowance of the total infringement debtors based on an historical data on the 
recoverability of these debts, which is consistent with prior year.   

Short-term Investments 

We obtained a copy of the Council’s short-term deposits portfolio and noted 
that these are from reputable financial institutions. We have obtained 100% 
confirmation from the financial institutions and no issues were noted. 

Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded that the Council’s 
receivables and short-term investments are not materially misstated as at 30 
June 2016. 

Landfill restoration 
reserves / provisions 

Summary of Audit Observations 
The Council has an obligation to remediate and restore the landfill at Shoal 
Bay under the Environmental Protection Act which includes the costs of 
dismantling and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of residual 
materials and remediation and rehabilitation of disturbed areas.   
As at 30 June 2016 the Council has been unable to reliably quantify any 
future costs associated with this obligation, hence similar to prior years, did 
not account for this future costs as a provision/liability in the financial 
statements.  The Council however, had set aside reserves in relation to 
Waste Management and Environmental. 
The Council’s 30 June 2016 financial statement disclosures currently include: 
“Where these can be reliably estimated close down and restoration costs are 
provided for in the accounting period when the obligation arises, and are 
carried at the net present value of estimated future costs. 
In relation to the Shoal Bay Waste Disposal the Council has not to date been 
able to sufficiently reliably estimate the close down and restoration 
costs.  Recent developments in the Council’s Waste Strategy and improving 
information are expected to enable a reliable estimate of the close down and 
restoration obligations from and including the year ending 30 June 2017.” 
2017 Planning Focus 
It is recommended the Council consider engaging an expert to reliably 
measure any future costs associated with the restoration of landfill and 
ensure this information is adequately accounted for and disclosed in the 
financial statements.  The Council should also assess the provision annually 
for any significant uncertainty in the estimates used in the calculation of these 
future costs. 
Merit Partners will continue to review the Council’s assessment in relation to 
the future costs of the landfill restoration. 
Management Response: 
Internal discussions have been held in regards to this matter.  
Management advised that consultants have been engaged to further refine 
the measurement of future costs associated with the restoration of the landfill 
to achieve the degree of reliability required to adequately account for and 
disclose the costs in the financial statements. 
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4. Audit Adjustments 
4.1 Summary of unadjusted differences 
There were no identified or unadjusted audit differences during the current year under review. 
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5. Assessment of Management Discussion 
and Analysis 

In addition to the audit of the financial statements and as requested by the Council, we have reviewed 
the Management Discussion and Analysis report. [to be completed] 

Feedback was provided to Council for any inconsistencies and irregularities identified in the report prior 
to it being finalised.  Generally the information contained and presented in the report was found to be in 
agreement with the figures presented in the financial statements and in line with our understanding of 
the operations during the year. 
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6. Assessment of control environment 
As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control 
sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of testing performed. Although 
our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control we are required 
to communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control. 

Our audit procedures do not address all internal control and accounting procedures and are based on 
selective tests of accounting records and supporting data and have not been designed for the purposes 
of making detailed recommendations.  As a result our procedures would not necessarily disclose all 
weaknesses in the Council’s internal control environment, and you should not assume that there are no 
additional matters that you should be aware of in meeting your responsibilities. 

The matters reported below and detailed in Appendix D are limited to those deficiencies that we 
identified during the audit and that we concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to 
you. 

The following table summarises the key issues and their risk ranking. 

 

City of Darwin 
 High 

Needs 
significant 

improvement 

 Moderate 
Needs 

substantial 
improvement 

 Low 
Needs some 
improvement 

Trust account clean-up       
Signed Minutes of Meetings       
Provision for Employee Entitlements       
 
  

30

30



 

 
City of Darwin 
Audit Closing Report As at and For the Year Ended 30 June 2016 

 

  
 

7. Other required Risk Management and Audit 
Committee communications 

We are required by law to report to you certain matters that are not otherwise detailed in this report. 

Matter How matter was addressed 

Material uncertainties and 
going concern 

No conditions or events were identified, either individually or 
in aggregate, that indicated there could be doubt about the 
Council’s ability to continue as a going concern for 12 
months from the date of our report. 

 

Disagreements with 
management 

We received full cooperation from management and had no 
unresolved disagreements over the application of 
accounting principles, the scope of our audit or disclosures 
to be included in the financial statements. 

 

Compliance with laws and 
regulations 

We have not identified any instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. 

 

Fraud and illegal acts We have made enquires of management and identified 
discussion in our review of Council and RMAC meetings 
regarding: 

► Knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting 
the entity involving management, employees who have 
significant roles in internal control; or others where 
fraud could have a material effect on the financial 
report 

► Knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected 
fraud, affecting the Council’s financial information. 

We did not become aware of any fraud or illegal acts during 
our audit. 

 

Expected modifications to 
audit report 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified/unmodified audit report 
on the financial statements of the Council. Draft copies of 
our reports have been included at Appendix A. 
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8. Independence  
We confirm that in our professional judgment, the engagement team and the Firm are independent. 

We consider that our independence in this context is a matter that should be reviewed by both you and 
ourselves.  It is therefore important that you and the Committee consider the facts of which you are 
aware and come to a view.  Should you have any specific matters that you wish to discuss, please 
contact us. 
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9. Outstanding Items 
The following items relating to the completion of our audit procedures are outstanding at the date of the 
release of this report: 

Item Actions to resolve Responsibility 

Representation Letter ► Receipt of signed management 
representation letter 

► Management 

Signed Financial 
Statements 

► Receipt of signed financial 
statements 

► Chief Executive Officer 
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10. A Commitment to the Future 
Our value proposition is simple: 
► A Commitment to providing the Council with the right team of people with the right blend of commercial 

and technical experience. 

► A Commitment to deliver a tailored service and practical solutions relevant to your industry sectors. 

► A Commitment to ‘keep it simple’ through dynamic, relevant and proactive continuous communication. 

► A Commitment to developing and maintaining collaborative relationships to appropriately assess your 
expectations and business needs. 

► A Commitment to effective and responsive technical consultation. 

► A Commitment, through frequent communication with executive management, to provide fair and 
transparent fees based on: a thorough understanding of audit scope, continuous measuring and 
monitoring of the audit process and understanding client service requirements. 

 
As part of our commitment to your future, we have identified future financial reporting and audit 
developments that may impact on the Council in the future.  These matters are indicated in Appendix E.
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Appendix A   Draft Audit Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the Council of City of Darwin 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of the City of Darwin (the “Council”), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement. 
 
 
Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Northern 
Territory of Australia Local Government Act and Regulations and for such internal controls as the 
Chief Executive Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the Council’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the Chief Executive Officer, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian 
professional accounting bodies.   
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial report of the City of Darwin is in accordance with the Northern 
Territory Local Government Act, including: 
 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 

b) complying with the Australian Accounting Standards. 
 

 
 

Merit Partners 
 
 
 
MunLi Chee 
Director 
Darwin 
 
 
Date: 
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Appendix B Management Representation Letter 
 

 
 
 
 
 
17 October 2016 
 
MunLi Chee 
Director 
Merit Partners 
GPO Box 3470 
DARWIN NT 0801 
 
Dear MunLi 
 
 
 

City of Darwin 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial report of the 
City of Darwin (“the Council”) for the year ended 30 June 2016. We recognise that obtaining 
representations from us concerning the information contained in this letter is a significant 
procedure in enabling you to form an opinion as to whether the financial report gives a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the City of Darwin as of 30 June 2016 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia and the Local Government Act and 
Regulations. 

We understand the purpose of your audit is to express an opinion on our financial report in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We understand the audit involved an examination 
of the accounting system, internal control and related data, to the extent you considered 
necessary in the circumstances, and is not designed to identify - nor necessarily be expected to 
disclose - fraud, shortages, errors and other irregularities, should any exist. 

Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the best of our knowledge 
and belief:  

A. Financial Statements and Financial Records 

1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the fair presentation of the financial report. We 
believe the financial report referred to above gives a true and fair view of the financial 
position and financial performance of the Council in accordance with Accounting 
Standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia and the 
Local Government Act and Regulations is free of material misstatements, including 
omissions. We have approved the financial report. 

2. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are 
appropriately described in the financial report. 

3. Each element of the financial report is properly classified, described and disclosed in 
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accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting 
requirements in Australia and the Local Government Act and Regulations.  

4. We also believe that the Council has a system of internal controls adequate to permit the 
preparation of an accurate financial report in accordance with Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia and the Local Government 
Act and Regulations. 

5. The financial records of the Council have been kept so as to be sufficient to enable a 
financial report to be prepared and audited, and other records and registers required by 
the Local Government Act and Regulations have been properly kept and are up-to-date. 

B. Fraud and Error  

1. We acknowledge we are responsible for the design and implementation of internal 
controls to prevent and detect fraud and error. 

2. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial report 
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

3. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud involving management or other 
employees who have a significant role in the Council’s internal controls over financial 
reporting. In addition, we have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud involving 
other employees in which the fraud could have a material effect on the financial report. 
We have no knowledge of any allegations of financial improprieties, including fraud or 
suspected fraud, (regardless of the source or form and including without limitation, any 
allegations by “whistleblowers”) which could result in a misstatement of the financial 
report or otherwise affect the financial reporting of the Council. 

4. There are no unadjusted audit differences identified during the current audit and 
pertaining to the latest period presented. 

C. Compliance with Laws and Regulations 

1. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible noncompliance with laws and 
regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial report. 

2. There has been no noncompliance with requirements of regulatory authorities that could 
have a material effect on the financial report in the event of noncompliance. 

D. Completeness of Information 

1. We have made available to you all financial records and related data and all minutes of 
the meetings of Council held through the year to the most recent meeting. 

2. There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting 
records underlying the financial report. 

3. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the identification of 
related parties. We have disclosed to you all information required to meet the disclosure 
requirements of AASB 124 – Related Party Disclosures, in particular information relating 
to personally related entities for both specified directors and specified executives.  
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E. Recognition, Measurement and Disclosure  

1. We believe that the significant assumptions underlying the fair value measurements and 
disclosures used in the preparation of the financial report are reasonable and appropriate 
in the circumstances. These assumptions reflect our intent and ability to carry out the fair 
value measurements on behalf of the Council. 

2. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial report. 

3. We have disclosed to you, and the Council has complied with, all aspects of contractual 
agreements that could have a material effect on the financial report in the event of non-
compliance, including all covenants, conditions or other requirements of all outstanding 
debt. 

F. Ownership and Carrying Value of Assets 

1. Except for assets capitalised under finance leases, the Council has satisfactory title to all 
assets appearing in the statement of financial position, and there are no liens or 
encumbrances on the Council’s assets, nor has any asset been pledged as collateral. All 
assets to which the Council has satisfactory title appear in the statement of financial 
position.  

2. All agreements and options to buy back assets previously sold have been properly 
recorded and adequately disclosed in the financial report. 

3. There are no formal or informal compensating balance arrangements with any of our cash 
and investment accounts. We have no line of credit arrangements or other arrangements 
involving restrictions on cash balances.  

4. We have considered the requirements of AASB 136 – Impairment of Assets when 
assessing the carrying values of non-current assets and in ensuring that no non-current 
assets are stated in excess of their recoverable amount. 

5. Adequate provision has been made for adjustments and losses in collection of 
receivables. 

6. Allowances for depreciation have been adjusted for items of property, plant and 
equipment that have been abandoned or are otherwise unusable. 

G. Liabilities and Contingencies 

1. All material liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees and 
those arising under derivative financial instruments, whether written or oral, have been 
disclosed to you and are appropriately reflected in the financial report. 

2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible claims, whether or not they have 
been discussed with legal counsel. 

3. We have recorded or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities, both actual and contingent. 
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H. Purchase and Sales Commitments and Sales Terms 

1. At the year end, the Council had no unusual commitments or contractual obligations of 
any sort which were not in the ordinary course of business and which might have an 
adverse effect upon the Council (e.g., contracts or purchase agreements above market 
price; repurchase or other agreements not in the ordinary course of business; material 
commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment; significant foreign 
exchange commitments; open balances on letters of credit; purchase commitments for 
inventory quantities in excess of normal requirements or at prices in excess of the 
prevailing market prices; losses from fulfilment of, or inability to fulfil, sales commitments, 
etc.). 

2. All material commitments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
or to acquire other non-current assets, such as investments or intangibles have been 
disclosed in the financial report. 

3. All material commitments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
or to acquire other non-current assets, such as investments or intangibles have been 
disclosed in the financial report. 

I. Independence 

1. We are not aware of any act or omission on the part of the Council that does or may 
impact on your ability to comply with your independence obligations as auditor of the 
Council. We have brought to your attention any items which we consider may affect your 
ability to remain independent of the Council and we will continue to work with you to 
maintain the independence of the audit relationship. 

J. Subsequent Events  

1. All significant events subsequent to period end which require adjustment of or disclosure 
are reflected in the financial report or notes thereto.  

K. Taxation 

1. Adequate amounts have been accrued for all local and foreign taxes including amounts 
applicable to prior periods not finally settled and paid. 

L. Funding Agreements 

The Council has complied with funding agreements entered into with the Australian 
Government, Northern Territory Government and other funding bodies. 

M. Electronic Presentation of the Financial Report  

1. With respect to publication of the financial report on our website, we acknowledge that: 

a) we are responsible for the electronic presentation of the financial report; 

b) we will ensure that the electronic version of the audited financial report and the 
auditor’s report on the website will be identical to the final signed hard copy version; 

c) we will clearly differentiate between audited and unaudited information in the 
construction of the entity’s web site as we understand the potential risk of 
misrepresentation; 
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d) we have assessed the controls over the security and integrity of the data on the web 
site and that adequate procedures are in place to ensure the integrity of the 
information published; and 

e) we will not present the auditor’s report on the full financial report with extracts only of 
the full financial report. 

N. Rates Received in Advance 

1. The Council has neither control nor control of a right to rates overpaid since they are 
voluntarily made and that persons and/or entities paying have legal right to demand 
repayment of the amounts overpaid. 

2. The amount of rates overpaid recognised by the Council as a liability are $2.4million and 
$1.6million for the year ended 30 June 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

 

 

Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
    
(Name of signing officer)*  DATE: 

(Title) 
 
 
    
(Name of signing officer)*  DATE: 
(Title) 
 
 
* Ordinarily signed by the members of management who have primary responsibility for the 

Council and its financial aspects (ordinarily the Chief Executive Officer and the senior 
financial officer).  
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Appendix C Understanding the Financial Statements 

Statement of Financial Position 
  2016 2015  

 $’000 $’000 Movement 
Current Assets      

Cash & Cash Equivalents 3,290  3,995  (705) 

Investments 74,471  70,190  4,281 

Trade & Other Receivables 7,249  7,110  139 

Inventories 131  116  15 

Assets held for sale 211 0  211 

Total current assets 85,352 81,411 3,941 
    
Non-current Assets    

Property, plant & equipment 1,106,436  1,146,998  (40,562) 
 

Total non-current assets 1,106,436 1,146,998 (40,562) 

Total assets 1,191,788 1,228,409 
(36,621) 

    Current Liabilities    

Trade and Other Payables 11,444  12,514  (1,070) 

Borrowings 226  211  15 

Provisions 6,909  6,506  403 

Total current liabilities 18,579 19,231 (652) 
    
Non-current Liabilities    

Borrowings 3,287  3,513  (226) 

Provisions 500  676  (176) 

Total non-current liabilities  3,787 4,189 (402) 

Total liabilities 22,366 23,420 (1,054) 
    
Net Assets 1,169,422 1,204,989 (35,567) 
    

    

Movement relates to acquisition of 
short-term deposits during the year. 

Assets expected to be sold within 
the next 12 months. 

Net cash flows provided by 
operating activities was $17.2m 
which was offset by cash flows used 
in Investing activities of $17.7m.  
The cash flows used in Investing 
activities included $26.7m used in 
purchasing new assets. 

Key movements during 2016 were 
additions of $34.3m, depreciation 
$21.1m, disposals $1.2m, and land 
and building revaluation downward 
adjustment of $52.3m. 

There was a large decrease in trade 
creditors of $2.1m - this largely is 
due to the timing and payment of 
large accounts prior to 30 June 
2016, such as utilities.  In 2014/15 
utilities payable was approx. $1.2m 
compared to nil in the current year. 
This was offset by increases in 
accrued salary and wages of $0.4m 
and rates overpaid by $0.8m. 

There was an average increase of 
4% employees during the year 
coupled with increases to salary 
rates of 3.5%. 
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Appendix C Understanding the Financial Statements 

Statement of Financial Position 
 2016 2015  
 $’000 $’000 Movement 
Community Equity    

Asset Revaluation Reserve 771,670  823,978  (52,308) 

Retained Surplus/(Deficiency) 332,013  320,058  11,955 

Reserves 65,739  60,953  4,786 

Total Equity 1,169,422 1,204,989 (35,567) 
 
 
 

Decrease due to devaluation of land 
and buildings during the year 
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Appendix C Understanding the Financial Statements 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
  2016 2015  

 $’000 $’000 Movement 
Rates Revenue 64,707  62,294  2,413 

Statutory Charges 4,009 3,784 225 

User Charges 19,715  18,407  1,308 

Grants, Subsidies, 
Contributions & Donations 

5,679  6,225  (546) 

Interest & Investment 
Revenue 

2,707  2,955  (248) 

Reimbursements 500 507 (7) 

Other Income 811  637  174 

Total Income 98,128 94,809 3,319 

Employee Costs 29,628  27,252  2,376 

Materials, Contracts & Other 
Expenses 

50,091  48,398  1,693 

Depreciation and Amortisation 21,133  22,646  (1,513) 

Finance Costs 242  255  (13) 

Total Expenses 101,094 98,551 2,540 
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (2,966) (3,742) 779 

Asset Disposal & Fair Value 
Adjustment 

(672) 710    (1,362) 

Amounts Received 
Specifically for New or 
Upgraded Assets 

12,811 4,564 8,247 

Physical Resources Received 
Free of Charge 

7,568 3,316 4,252 

Gain on Carbon Tax Repeal 0 6,938 (6,938) 

Net Surplus/(Deficit)    16,741  11,786        4,955  
        
Changes in Revaluation 
Surplus 

(52,308) 0 (52,308) 

Total Other Comprehensive 
Income (52,308) 0 (52,308) 
Total Comprehensive 
Income (35,567) 11,786 (47,353) 
    

Increase in actual tonnage of waste 
going to the weighbridge compared 
to last year, mostly relating to 
asbestos revenue. There was also 
an increase to the rates charged for 
the weigh bridge. 

Rate increase of 3% as per 
municipal plan plus growth 

$580K grant for DEC was paid 
directly to DEC in 2015/16. 

There was an average increase of 
4% of employees during the year 
coupled with increases to salary 
rates of 3.5%. 

During the year the Council paid 
back some of the carbon tax levied 
on waste services; this was $2.4m.  

A slight decline in depreciation 
expense this year due to some 
adjustments to useful lives of assets 

A number of assets, including the 
Cavenagh carpark and Parap Pool, 
were disposed/written off during the 
year that had been demolished or 
replaced with new assets.  

Significant funds received from the 
Dept. Sports & Rec during the year 
for major projects commencing in 
16/17  including the Parap Pool $5M 
and Velodrome redevelopment 
$1.5M. 

The Council received 2 
infrastructure contributions in 2016 
amounting to $7.5 million compared 
to 2 land contributions in 2015 
amounting to $3.0 million. 

Last year’s gain was a result of the 
de-recognition of the carbon tax 
liability as a result of the carbon tax 
repeal effective 1 July 2014. 
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Appendix D Audit observations 
 
Overview of Risk Ranking System 
Though we have rated each finding individually on a stand alone basis, you should also assess the 
collective impact of these matters, together with other findings from within your organisation. 
 
 

High 
Needs 
significant 
improvement 

Immediate corrective action is required.  These recommendations 
relate to a serious weakness which exposes the organisation to a 
material extent in terms of achievement of corporate objectives, 
financial results or otherwise impair the Council’s reputation. 

 
Moderate 
Needs 
substantial 
improvement 

Corrective action is required, generally within 6 months. A control 
weakness, which can undermine the system of internal control and/or 
operational efficiency and should therefore be addressed. 

 

Low 
Needs some 
improvement 

Corrective action is required, generally within 6 to 12 months. A 
weakness which does not seriously detract from the system of internal 
control and/or operational effectiveness/efficiency but which should 
nevertheless be addressed by management. 

 
 
 
 
Disclaimer 
Issues identified are only those found within the course of the audit for year.  Recommendation issues are 
intended solely for the use of Council’s management.  We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any 
reliance on this report, to any person other than the Council or for any purpose other than that for which it 
was prepared. 
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Appendix E Changes in regulatory reporting 
Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (mostly for information only) 
This table lists all applicable standards/interpretations issued but not yet effective for 30 June 2016 year ends 
and assumes that the entity has elected not to "early adopt" any of these standards/interpretations. 

Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

AASB 9  Financial Instruments  AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new standard which replaces AASB 139. 
This new version supersedes AASB 9 issued in December 2009 (as 
amended) and AASB 9 (issued in December 2010) and includes a model 
for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking ‘expected 
loss’ impairment model and a substantially-reformed approach to hedge 
accounting.  

AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. However, the Standard is available for early adoption. The own 
credit changes can be early adopted in isolation without otherwise 
changing the accounting for financial instruments.  

Classification and measurement  

AASB 9 includes requirements for a simpler approach for classification 
and measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of 
AASB 139. There are also some changes made in relation to financial 
liabilities.  

The main changes are described below.  

Financial assets  

a. Financial assets that are debt instruments will be classified based on 
(1) the objective of the entity's business model for managing the financial 
assets; (2) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.  

b. Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains 
and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for 
trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit 
or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the 
instrument.  

c. Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss at initial recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise 
from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains and losses 
on them, on different bases.  

Financial liabilities  

Changes introduced by AASB 9 in respect of financial liabilities are 
limited to the measurement of liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL) using the fair value option.  

Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities, the change in 
fair value is to be accounted for as follows:  

► The change attributable to changes in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI)  

► The remaining change is presented in profit or loss  

AASB 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss that was caused by 
changes in the credit risk of liabilities elected to be measured at fair 
value. This change in accounting means that gains or losses attributable 
to changes in the entity’s own credit risk would be recognised in OCI. 

1 January 2018  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

These amounts recognised in OCI are not recycled to profit or loss if the 
liability is ever repurchased at a discount.  

Impairment  

The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment 
model that will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. 
Specifically, the new Standard requires entities to account for expected 
credit losses from when financial instruments are first recognised and to 
recognise full lifetime expected losses on a timelier basis.  

Hedge accounting  

Amendments to AASB 9 (December 2009 & 2010 editions and AASB 
2013-9) issued in December 2013 included the new hedge accounting 
requirements, including changes to hedge effectiveness testing, 
treatment of hedging costs, risk components that can be hedged and 
disclosures.  

Consequential amendments were also made to other standards as a 
result of AASB 9, introduced by AASB 2009-11 and superseded by AASB 
2010-7, AASB 2010-10 and AASB 2014-1 – Part E.  

AASB 2014-7 incorporates the consequential amendments arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9 in Dec 2014.  

AASB 2014-8 limits the application of the existing versions of AASB 9 
(AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010)) from 1 
February 2015 and applies to annual reporting periods beginning on after 
1 January 2015.  

AASB 14  

^^^  

Regulatory deferral 
accounts  

AASB 14 permits first-time adopters to continue to account for amounts 
related to rate regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP when 
they adopt Australian Accounting Standards. However, to enhance 
comparability with entities that already apply Australian Accounting 
Standards and do not recognise such amounts, AASB 14 requires that 
the effect of rate regulation must be presented separately from other 
items. An entity that is not a first-time adopter of Australian Accounting 
Standards will not be able to apply AASB 14.  

AASB 2014-1 Part D makes amendments to AASB 1 First-time Adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards, which arise from the issuance of 
AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts in June 2014.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2014-3  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Accounting for Acquisitions 
of Interests in Joint 
Operations  

[AASB 1 & AASB 11]  

AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 Joint Arrangements to provide guidance 
on the accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which 
the activity constitutes a business. The amendments require:  

(a) the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity 
constitutes a business, as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to 
apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in AASB 3 
and other Australian Accounting Standards except for those principles 
that conflict with the guidance in AASB 11  

(b) the acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB 3 and other 
Australian Accounting Standards for business combinations  

This Standard also makes an editorial correction to AASB 11.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2014-4  Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation 
(Amendments to AASB 116 

AASB 116 Property Plant and Equipment and AASB 138 Intangible Assets 
both establish the principle for the basis of depreciation and 
amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits of an asset.  

1 January 2016  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

and AASB 138)  The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based methods to 
calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because revenue 
generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally 
reflects factors other than the consumption of the economic benefits 
embodied in the asset.  

The amendment also clarified that revenue is generally presumed to be 
an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in an intangible asset. This presumption, however, 
can be rebutted in certain limited circumstances.  

AASB 2014-6  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Agriculture: Bearer Plants  

[AASB 101, AASB 116, AASB 
117, AASB 123, AASB 136, 
AASB 140 & AASB 141]  

The amendments require that bearer plants such as grape vines, rubber 
trees and oil palms, should be accounted for in the same way as 
property, plant and equipment in AASB 116, because their operation is 
similar to that of manufacturing.  

The produce growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of 
AASB 141 Agriculture.  

This Standard also makes various editorial corrections to other 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 15  Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers  

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces the existing 
revenue recognition standards AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 
118 Revenue and related Interpretations (Interpretation 13 Customer 
Loyalty Programmes, Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction 
of Real Estate, Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, 
Interpretation 131 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services and Interpretation 1042 Subscriber Acquisition Costs in the 
Telecommunications Industry). AASB 15 incorporates the requirements 
of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and developed jointly 
with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  

AASB 15 specifies the accounting treatment for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers (except for contracts within the scope of other 
accounting standards such as leases or financial instruments).The core 
principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 
accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:  

(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer  

(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract  

(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price  

(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
in the contract  

(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation  

AASB 2015-8 amended the AASB 15 effective date so it is now effective 
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. 
Early application is permitted.  

AASB 2014-5 incorporates the consequential amendments to a number 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from 
the issuance of AASB 15.  

1 January 2018  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

AASB 1056  Superannuation Entities  AASB 1056 is a new Standard applying to superannuation entities 
replacing AAS 25 Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans. This new 
standard specifies requirements for general purpose financial statements 
of superannuation entities and results in significant changes to 
presentation of financial statements, measurement and disclosure of 
defined benefit obligations and disclosure of disaggregated financial 
information.  

1 July 2016  

AASB 1057  Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards  

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard 
(and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. Accordingly, 
paragraphs 5 and 22 respectively specify the application paragraphs for 
Standards and Interpretations in general. Differing application 
paragraphs are set out for individual Standards and Interpretations or 
grouped where possible.  

The application paragraphs do not affect requirements in other 
Standards that specify that certain paragraphs apply only to certain 
types of entities.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2014-9  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements  

AASB 2014-9 amends AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, and 
consequentially amends AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their 
separate financial statements. AASB 2014-9 also makes editorial 
corrections to AASB 127.  

AASB 2014-9 applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016. Early adoption permitted.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2014-10  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Sale 
or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture  

AASB 2014-10 amends AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and 
AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the requirements in 
AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. The amendments require:  

(a) A full gain or loss to be recognised when a transaction involves a 
business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not)  

(b) A partial gain or loss to be recognised when a transaction involves 
assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed 
in a subsidiary.  

AASB 2014-10 also makes an editorial correction to AASB 10.  

AASB 2015-10 defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 
1 January 2016.  

1 January 2018  

AASB 2015-1  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle  

The subjects of the principal amendments to the Standards are set out 
below:  

AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations:  

• Changes in methods of disposal – where an entity reclassifies an asset 
(or disposal group) directly from being held for distribution to being held 
for sale (or visa versa), an entity shall not follow the guidance in 
paragraphs 27–29 to account for this change.  

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:  

1 January 2016  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

• Servicing contracts - clarifies how an entity should apply the guidance 
in paragraph 42C of AASB 7 to a servicing contract to decide whether a 
servicing contract is ‘continuing involvement’ for the purposes of 
applying the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 42E–42H of AASB 7.  

• Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to condensed interim 
financial statements - clarify that the additional disclosure required by 
the amendments to AASB 7 Disclosure–Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities is not specifically required for all interim periods. 
However, the additional disclosure is required to be given in condensed 
interim financial statements that are prepared in accordance with AASB 
134 Interim Financial Reporting when its inclusion would be required by 
the requirements of AASB 134.  

AASB 119 Employee Benefits:  

• Discount rate: regional market issue - clarifies that the high quality 
corporate bonds used to estimate the discount rate for post-
employment benefit obligations should be denominated in the same 
currency as the liability. Further it clarifies that the depth of the market 
for high quality corporate bonds should be assessed at the currency level.  

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting:  

• Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’ - 
amends AASB 134 to clarify the meaning of disclosure of information 
‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’ and to require the inclusion of a 
cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the location of 
this information.  

AASB 2015-2  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101  

The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements arising from the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project. The 
amendments are designed to further encourage companies to apply 
professional judgment in determining what information to disclose in the 
financial statements. For example, the amendments make clear that 
materiality applies to the whole of financial statements and that the 
inclusion of immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of financial 
disclosures. The amendments also clarify that companies should use 
professional judgment in determining where and in what order 
information is presented in the financial disclosures.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2015-5  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Investment Entities: 
Applying the Consolidation 
Exception  

This makes amendments to AASB 10, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities and AASB 128 arising from the IASB’s narrow scope 
amendments associated with Investment Entities.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 2015-6  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 
10, AASB 124 & AASB 1049]  

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures to extend the scope of that Standard to include not-for-profit 
public sector entities.  

1 July 2016  

AASB 2015-7  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Fair 
Value Disclosures of Not-
for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 13]  

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
to exempt not-for-profit public sector entities from certain requirements 
of the Standard.  

1 July 2016  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

AASB 2015-9  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Scope and Application 
Paragraphs [AASB 8, AASB 
133 & AASB 1057]  

This Standard inserts scope paragraphs into AASB 8 and AASB 133 in 
place of application paragraph text in AASB 1057. This is to correct 
inadvertent removal of these paragraphs during editorial changes made 
in August 2015. There is no change to the requirements or the 
applicability of AASB 8 and AASB 133.  

1 January 2016  

AASB 16  Leases  The key features of AASB 16 are as follows:  

Lessee accounting  

• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with 
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low 
value.  

• A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial 
assets and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities.  

• Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a 
present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease 
payments (including inflation-linked payments), and also includes 
payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably 
certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an 
option to terminate the lease.  

• AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for lessees.  

Lessor accounting  

• AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 
requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two 
types of leases differently.  

• AASB 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors 
that will improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, 
particularly to residual value risk.  

AASB 16 supersedes:  

(a) AASB 117 Leases  

(b) Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease  

(c) SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives  

(d) SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease  

The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, provided the new 
revenue standard, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, has 
been applied, or is applied at the same date as AASB 16.  

1 January 2019  

2016-1  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Recognition of Deferred Tax 
Assets for Unrealised Losses 
[AASB 112]  

This Standard amends AASB 112 Income Taxes (July 2004) and AASB 112 
Income Taxes (August 2015) to clarify the requirements on recognition of 
deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured 
at fair value.  

1 January 2017  

2016-2  Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107  

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) 
to require entities preparing financial statements in accordance with Tier 
1 reporting requirements to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and 

1 January 2017  
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Reference Title Summary Application date 
of standard* 

non-cash changes.  

IFRS 2 
(Amendments)  

Classification and 
Measurement of  

Share-based Payment 
Transactions  

(Amendments to IFRS 2)  

This standard amends to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, clarifying how to 
account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The 
amendments provide requirements on the accounting for:  

► The effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement 
of cash-settled share-based payments  

► Share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for 
withholding tax obligations  

► A modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment 
that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to 
equity-settled  

 

1 January 2018  

 

* Designates the beginning of the applicable annual reporting period unless otherwise stated.  
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Appendix F Audit Developments 
ASA 701 – Communicating of Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
ASA 701 is operative for financial reporting periods ending on or after 15 December 2016. Initially, this 
standard will be applicable to all listed companies, however, it is envisaged that the application of this new 
standard will be applied to all general purpose and special purpose financial reports in the future. 

The new standard deals with the auditor's responsibility to communicate key audit matters in the auditor's 
report. It is intended to address both the auditor's judgement as to what to communicate in the auditor's 
report and the form and content of such communication. Its purpose is to enhance the communicative value 
of the auditor's report by providing greater transparency about the audit that was performed.  

Communicating key audit matters provides additional information to intended users of the financial report to 
assist them in understanding those matters that, in the auditor's professional judgement, were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period. Communicating key audit matters may 
also assist intended users in understanding the entity and areas of significant management judgement in the 
audited financial report. It may provide intended users a basis to further engage with management and those 
charged with governance about certain matters relating to the entity, the audited financial report, or the audit 
that was performed. 

Application of the above standard will require the auditor to communicate with those charged with 
governance on a timely basis. This will also require the auditor to prepare audit documentation that is 
sufficient to support its audit report in the context of key audit matters, as well as certain other audit 
documentation of significant matters arising during the audit. 
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Finance Overview  
 

Council’s Financial Statements were completed within the statutory timeframe and 
the audit report was unqualified. 
 
During the 2015/16 year the Council managed a total income of over $110 million to 
provide a wide range of services and facilities to the community. 
 
The following information presents a summary of financial results for 2015/16.  
 
(Full details of Council’s audited Financial Statements are available within this Annual 
Report, all budget figures are in accord with the originally adopted Municipal Plan.) 

 
2015/16 Budget Results   

The Parap Pool and Velodrome 
grant moneys are held in the 
Unexpended Grants Reserve as at 
30 June 2016 to pay for capital 
expenditure in following financial 
year/s.  
 
 
 
 
The savings on street lighting 
repairs and maintenance have 
contributed to a reserve to assist 
the NTG transfer to Council of full 
responsibility for street lighting 
from 1 January 2018. 
 

Budget:  $1.9 million surplus 
Result:  $16.7 million surplus 

(Net income including capital revenue) 
The improved result included: 

• Early receipt of NTG grant for new 
Parap Pool $5M 

• Grant for Velodrome construction 
$1.5M 

• Successful negotiations to defer 
NTG transferring street lighting r & m 
expenses of $1.6M 

• Developer contributed assets $7.6M 
(non-cash) 

• Disposal of assets not fully 
depreciated (-$0.7M) 

• Other revenue and expense 
variations 

 

 
 
How does the result compare with previous years? 
 
Net result (after capital revenue) 

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
$16.7M *$11.8M $8.8M $9.5M 

 

*Includes one off de-recognition of carbon tax liability $6.9 million. 
Capital grants and contributions are not consistent from year to year and significantly 
contribute to the fluctuations in the Net result (after capital revenue).  
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Looking Ahead 
 

• The Council’s strong financial position and results place it in a good position to 
sustainably meet obligations to current and future generations. 

• Improving financial and asset management planning processes. 
• Ongoing savings and efficiency gains where possible. 
• Continuation of lost revenue if Commonwealth does not adjust annual financial 

assistance by CPI. 
• NTG is expected to transfer full responsibility for street lighting to Council as 

from 1 January 2018 and this may increase rates (additional costs for r & m and 
replacing old infrastructure). 

• Long term financial plan; indicative rates increases of 3% PA (1.5% above CPI) 
and recurring operational savings to be identified. 
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Income 
 
Budget:   $103.9 million  
Result:  $118.5 million  
 
The result was $14.6 million higher 
due to: 
 
• Grants received earlier than 

expected. 
• Developer contributed assets 

not budgeted. 
 
 

 Sources of Revenue (actual) 

 
 

 

Income - 4 year trend 
2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
$118.5M $110.3M $101.1M $94.8M 

 

Expenses 
 
Budget:   $102.1 million  
Result:  $101.8 million  
 
The result was less than budget 
due to the combined effects of 
savings on street lighting, and 
other variations including asset 
disposals not budgeted. 

 

 Disposition of expenses (actual) 

 
 
Expenses - 4 year trend 

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
$101.8M $98.6M $92.3M $85.2M 

 
  

Rates 
Revenues, 

55%, 

Statutory 
Charges, 3% 

User 
Charges, 

17%, 

Grants, 
Subsidies & 
Conts, 5% 

Investment 
Income, 2% 

Other 1% 

Amounts  
Specifically 

for New 
Assets, 17% 

Employee 
Costs 29% 

Materials, 
& Services 

50% 

Dep'n, 21% 

Asset 
disposals & 
Finance, 1% 
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Financial Sustainability Indicators 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY INDICATORS

Council Indicators
1 % of Rate Debtors Outstanding Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator <5% 2.6% 2.2% 1.9% 2.2% 2.5%

2 Debt Servicing Ratio Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator <5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.6%

3 Liquidity Ratio Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator >1.00:1 1.01:1 1.01:1 1.06:1 1.05:1 1.06:1

4 Rates Ratio Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator 60%-70% 63.6% 63.2% 64.2% 65.3% 64.3%

5 Operating Surplus Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
Break-
even

($3.6M) ($3.7M) ($2.1M) $2.1M ($0.6M)

6 Operating Surplus before Depreciation Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
> Break-

even
$17.5M $18.9M $14.3M $16.8M $13.9M

7 Asset Sustainability Ratio Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator >50% 77.5% 31.0% 32.2% 70.2% 36.6%

8
% of Annual Expenditure within 
Budget Target 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Indicator 95%-105% 99.7% 102.8% 103.8% 98.1% 90.8%

This indicator is designed to measure how effective Council's budgeting practices are by measuring how close
actual expenditures incurred were to budget.

Rates Ratio
This indicator is designed to measure Council's ability to cover its day to day expenses through its own
tax/rates revenue.

Operating Surplus

This indicator is designed to provide information on the result of ordinary operations. Trend analysis may
enable Council to determine if the current level of services can be sustained into the future. Management will
continue to monitor this but as it remains minimal has no concerns at this stage.  

Operating Surplus 
before Depreciation

This indicator is designed to provide information on the result of ordinary operations before depreciation, which
is a non cash expense. Excluding depreciation gives the amount of operating income over and above operating
expenses that is available to fund capital expenditure.

Asset Sustainability 
Ratio

This indicator is designed to indicate the extent to which Council is renewing its assets. A ratio of 100% or
more indicates that Council spends at least the amount of depreciation each year on renewing assets. Based
on advice from Council's Asset Managers the current maturity profiles of existing assets did not demand
immediate renewals in the reporting year (2014/15).   

% Annual Expenditure 
within Budget

This indicator is designed to measure whether Council has the ability to pay its debts as they fall due and is
expressed as a factor of one.

Percentage of Rate 
Debtors Outstanding

This indicator is designed to measure Council's effectiveness in recovering debts legally owed to it.

Debt Servicing Ratio

This indicator is designed to show what proportion of revenue is required as a commitment to fund Council's
long term capacity to repay loans.

Liquidity Ratio

Each year the Council tracks its performance against 8 key financial 
sustainability performance measures over a five year period.  As outlined 
below, for 2015/16 the Council has met or exceeded targets in all but 2 
indicators (Operating Surplus and Asset Sustainability Ratio are highlighted amber 
and are slightly outside preferred range, no concerns are held). 
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Service Results  
 

The following table presents, for each program, actual results (statement of income) 
against original Municipal budgets: 

 

Services ($'000) Actual Actual Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance Var

for the year ended 30 June 2016 Income Expenses Net Result Net Result Fav (-Unfav) Fav (-Unfav) Note
Chief Executive Officer Section 126 3,775 -3,649 -4,027 377 9%
Office of the Chief Executive 61 838 -777 -756 -21 -3%
Climate Change 53 589 -536 -485 -51 -11%
Communications & Engagement 0 708 -708 -939 230 25% 1
Governance 0 1,305 -1,305 -1,500 195 13% 2
Strategy & Outcomes 12 334 -323 -346 24 7%

Community & Cultural Services 2,801 9,237 -6,436 -6,977 541 8%
General Manager Community 0 597 -597 -541 -56 -10%
Community Development 22 787 -764 -917 152 17% 3
Customer Services 134 631 -497 -527 30 6%
Darwin Safer City 152 515 -363 -544 181 33% 4
Family & Children 183 319 -136 -220 84 38%
Libraries 1,548 3,553 -2,005 -2,034 29 1%
Major Community Events 35 413 -378 -420 42 10%
Recreation & Leisure 695 1,748 -1,053 -1,123 70 6%
Sister Cities 4 177 -173 -176 3 2%
Youth Services 28 498 -470 -476 6 1%

Corporate services 10,677 19,198 -8,522 -8,156 -366 -4%
General Manager Corporate 6 688 -682 -508 -174 -34% 5
Business Services 0 174 -174 -181 7 4%
Contract Administration 0 158 -158 -232 74 32%
Darwin Entertainment Centre 0 1,172 -1,172 -895 -277 -31% 6
Employee Overheads (net) 89 -89 178 -172 350 204% 7
Employee Relations 125 1,792 -1,667 -1,698 31 2%
Finance Management 573 3,111 -2,538 -2,578 40 2%
Fleet Management (net of internal charges/hire) 113 -2,156 2,269 1,815 454 -25% 8
Information Technology 70 2,804 -2,734 -2,650 -85 -3%
On & Off Street Parking 5,013 5,120 -108 634 -742 117% 9
Property Management 1,459 177 1,282 1,315 -33 3%
Records & Information Management 19 630 -610 -620 9 2%
Regulatory & Animal Management 3,210 4,641 -1,431 -1,112 -318 -29% 10
Risk Management 0 976 -976 -1,274 298 23% 11

Infrastructure 21,700 53,476 -31,776 -29,935 -1,841 -6%
General Manager Infrastructure 0 664 -664 -574 -90 -16%
Asset Management 0 474 -474 -415 -59 -14%
Design, Planning & Projects 166 2,157 -1,991 -1,886 -105 -6%
Operations 0 779 -779 -854 75 9%
Building Services 0 4,194 -4,194 -4,094 -101 -2%
Mosquito Control 138 99 40 -135 175 129% 12
Parks & Reserves 238 15,606 -15,368 -14,865 -503 -3%
Pathways 0 1,447 -1,447 -900 -547 -61% 13
Roads Maintenance 1,778 4,492 -2,714 -6,410 3,696 58% 14
Stormwater Drainage 0 744 -744 -627 -117 -19% 15
Street Cleaning 0 2,945 -2,945 -2,916 -29 -1%
Waste Management 18,790 19,518 -728 3,597 -4,326 120% 16
Development 590 357 233 144 90 -62%

Corporate overheads charged to other accounts 0 -5,579 5,579 5,579 0 0%

Other 83,203 21,658 61,546 45,369 16,177 -36%
General Revenues (rates, interest, federal asstce) 62,824 -146 62,971 63,481 -510 1%
Grants & Contributions for Capital Purposes 20,379 0 20,379 3,033 17,346 -572% 17
Loss on sale assets 0 671 -671 0 -671 1000% 18
Depreciation 0 21,133 -21,133 -21,146 12 0%

Net Operating Result 118,507 101,766 16,741 1,853
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Notes on variances (where exceed  + -10% and $100,000)

1 Promotional and projects budgets related to planned communications consultations and internet projects (to be progressed in 16/17) .


2 Savings in Elected Members Allowances and Civic Functions budgets.



3 Savings in Community Development activities due to vacancies and in Community Safety budget (taxi rank). 

4 Receipt of Faces in Spaces grant (with expenditure: program to be delivered across financial years); in addition savings due to staff vacancy.

5 Employee costs realigned to this program during the year and legal expenses higher than anticipated.

6 Additional costs of temporary air-conditioning chillers at Darwin Entertainment Centre.

7  Savings in employee sick leave and workers compensation.

8 Savings in fuel,  small plant purchases, vehicle damages expenditure and costs charged to other accounts.

9 On and Off Street parking income reduced due to lower occupancy rates and activity.

10 Reduction in CBD infringement income due to greater compliance and staff turnover.

11 Savings on insurance, internal audit and consultant services, also internal audits being completed in 16/17.

12 Operational component of Mosquito Control grant received (transferred to Unspent Grants Reserve).

13 Costs realigned from other Infrastructure programs.

14 NTG deferral of street lighting repairs and maintenance (including unwinding of previous years adjustments). In addition some of the 

 budget was utilised  for capital expenditure purpposes (roads).

15 Salaries & wages exceeded budget partially due to first year implementation of coroners inspection regime.

16  Some Carbon Tax Levies collected in previous years were refunded and overall there was a reduction in Weighbridge income (less activity)

17 Contributed assets and cash not budgeted and receipt of large grants for assets (including Parap Pool, Velodrome and  R2R Esplanade grant).

18 Loss on sale of assets was not budgeted - includes resurfacing of Cavenagh St car park and disposal of Monty's at the Mall building structure.

(rounding may cause minor differences in addition)

 
Service Results (continued) 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Capital expenditure 
 
Budget: $26.0 million  
Result:   $26.7 million  
 
(excludes developer contributed 
assets of 7.6 million) 
 
Overall $0.7 million more than original 
budget was spent mainly due to 
expenditure on completing projects 
from previous year (carry forwards). 
 

 

  
Notable projects completed during the 
year include: 
 
- Shoal Bay Waste disposal 

upgrades (ongoing) 
- Nightcliff Foreshore Café 
- Nightcliff Master Plan (combination 

of several programs) 
- Esplanade Resurface 

reconstruction 
- Coastal erosion management 

plan   
- Regional Playground 

Refurbishment 
- Emergency backup generators 

civic centre 
- Network and system upgrade 

Capital expenditure - 4 year trend 
2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
$26.7M $23.1M $16.6M $19.7M 
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Reserves 
 
Legally Restricted:  $33.1M 
(14/15: $23.4M) 
 
These reserves are subject to legal 
restrictions in relation to their use and 
include developer contributions, car 
parking shortfall rate, unexpended 
specific purpose grants and waste 
charges etc. 
 
Other Reserves:  $32.6M 
(14/15: $37.6) 
 
Other reserves support the long term 
financial plan and asset management.  
They include funds for Asset 
Replacement & Refurbishment, 
Disaster Contingency, Fleet 
Replacement, On & Off Street Car 
Parking Strategy and Carbon Tax etc 
. 

  
 
Increase in Legally Restricted 
Reserves: 
 
A notable factor is the early receipt of 
specific purpose grants for the new 
Parap Pool and Velodrome held until 
required.  
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City of Darwin
 GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Darwin: A tropical, liveable city that creates opportunity and 
choice for our community
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Overview

(i) These financial statements are General Purpose Financial Statements.

(ii) All figures presented in these financial statements are presented in Australian Currency.

(iii) These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council on 15/11/16.

Council has the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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 City of Darwin 

 
 General Purpose Financial Statements 
 for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

 Understanding Council's Financial Statements 

 
 

  
  page 2 
 

Introduction 
 
Each year, individual Local Governments across the 
Northern Territory are required to present a set of 
audited Financial Statements to their Council and 
Community. 
 
 
About the Certification of Financial Statements 
 
The Financial Statements must be certified by the 
Chief Executive Officer and Mayor as "presenting a 
true & fair view" of the Council's financial results for 
the year, and ensuring both responsibility for and 
ownership of the Financial Statements across 
Council. 
 
 
What you will find in the Statements 
 
The Financial Statements set out the financial 
performance, financial position and cash flows of 
Council for the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 
 
The format of the Financial Statements complies 
with the accounting and reporting requirements of 
Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
The Financial Statements incorporate 4 "primary" 
financial statements: 
 
1. A Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

A summary of Council's financial performance for the 
year, listing all income & expenses. 
 
2. A Balance Sheet 
 

A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position 
including its assets & liabilities. 
 
3. A Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

The overall change for the year (in dollars) of 
Council's "net wealth". 
 
4. A Statement of Cash Flows 
 

Indicates where Council's cash came from and 
where it was spent. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About the Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The Notes to the Financial Statements provide 
greater detail and additional information on the 4 
Primary Financial Statements. 
 
 
About the Auditor's Reports 
 
Council's Financial Statements are required to be 
audited by external accountants. 
 
The Auditor provides an audit report, which gives an 
opinion on whether the Financial Statements present 
fairly the Council's financial performance and 
position. 
 
 
Who uses the Financial Statements? 
 
The Financial Statements are publicly available 
documents and are used by (but not limited to) 
Councillors, Residents and Ratepayers, Employees, 
Suppliers, Contractors, Customers, the Local 
Government Association of Northern Territory, the 
NT Local Government Grants Commission, and 
Financiers including Banks and other Financial 
Institutions. 
 
 
More information… 
 
A “Finance Overview” for the financial year ended 30 
June 2016 is provided separately within the City of 
Darwin Annual Report 2015/16. 
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City of Darwin

Chief Executive Officer's Statement
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

The attached General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with:

(i) The Local Government Act , and

(ii) The Local Government (Accounting) Regulations, and

(iii) The Australian Accounting Standards and professional pronouncements.

To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, these Financial Statements

(i)  Are in accord with Council's accounting and other records, and

(ii) Have been properly drawn up in accordance with the applicable  Accounting Standards,
the Act and the Regulations so as to present fairly the financial position of the Council and the results
for the financial year

Brendan Dowd

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
28-October-2016

page 3
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City of Darwin

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ '000

Income
Rates Revenues
Statutory Charges
User Charges
Grants, Subsidies and Contributions
Investment Income
Reimbursements
Other Income

Total Income

Expenses
Employee Costs
Materials, Contracts & Other Expenses
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
Finance Costs

Total Expenses

Operating Surplus / (Deficit)

Asset Disposal & Fair Value Adjustments
Amounts Received Specifically for New or Upgraded Assets
Physical Resources Received Free of Charge
Gain on Carbon Tax Liability Repeal

Net Surplus / (Deficit) 

Other Comprehensive Income
Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to operating result
Changes in Revaluation Reserves - I,PP&E

Total Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Income

2g 12,811          

Notes

2a

2b

2c

2g

2f

2016

3c

2e

3a

50,091          3b

2d

4,009            
19,715          

21,133          

5,679            

2015

64,707          62,294          

27,252          29,628          

3,316            
4,564            

500               

(52,308)        -                    

811               

22,646          

16,741      

-                    

(35,567)     11,786      

7,568            2i

9a

4

(52,308)        

23 -                    

3,784            

(672)              710               

98,551          

637               

94,809          

(3,742)       

255               

507               

242               

98,128          

48,398          

18,407          

2,707            2,955            

(2,966)       

11,786      

101,094        

6,938            

3d

6,225            

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes and Significant Accounting Policies.          page 4
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City of Darwin

Statement of Financial Position
 as at 30 June 2016

$ '000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Financial Assets
Inventories
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Net Assets

EQUITY
Accumulated Surplus
Asset Revaluation Reserves
Other Reserves

Total Council Equity

226               
8a

8b

1,106,436     

1,204,989 

60,953          

12,514          

19,231          

211               
6,506            

823,978        

676               

1,146,998     

1,228,409   

1,146,998     

9a

18,579          
8c 6,909            

3,513            

4,189            

23,420        

1,204,989 

320,058        

2016

81,411          

2015

5c

7,110            
70,190          

116               

3,995            

131               
-                    

7,249            

5d

211               

5a

19

Notes

74,471          
5b

3,290            

11,444          

1,106,436     

1,191,788   

85,352          

8c

3,287            

1,169,422 

22,366        

332,013        

500               
3,787            

9b 65,739          
771,670        

1,169,422 

7a

8b

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes and Significant Accounting Policies.          page 5
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City of Darwin

Statement of Changes in Equity
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Asset

Accumulated Revaluation Other Total
$ '000 Notes Surplus Reserve Reserves Equity

2016
Balance at the end of previous reporting period 320,058       823,978       60,953         1,204,989    

a. Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year 16,741         -                   -                   16,741         

b. Other Comprehensive Income

- Gain (Loss) on Revaluation of I,PP&E 7a -                   (52,308)        -                   (52,308)        
Total Comprehensive Income 16,741         (52,308)        -                   (35,567)        

c. Transfers between Reserves (4,786)          -                   4,786           -                   
Balance at the end of period 332,013       771,670       65,739         1,169,422    

2015
Balance at the end of previous reporting period 320,045       823,978       49,180         1,193,203    

a. Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year 11,786         -                   -                   11,786         

b. Other Comprehensive Income

- Gain (Loss) on Revaluation of I,PP&E 7a -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other Comprehensive Income -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Comprehensive Income 11,786         -                   -                   11,786         

c. Transfers between Reserves (11,773)        -                   11,773         -                   
Balance at the end of period 320,058       823,978       60,953         1,204,989    

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes and Significant Accounting Policies.          page 6
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City of Darwin

Statement of Cash Flows
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ '000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts

Operating Receipts
Investment Receipts
Payments

Operating Payments to Suppliers and Employees
Finance Payments

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Receipts

Amounts Received Specifically for New/Upgraded Assets
Sale of Replaced Assets
Payments

Expenditure on Renewal/Replacement of Assets
Expenditure on New/Upgraded Assets
Net Purchase of Investment Securities

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipts

Nil
Payments

Repayments of Borrowings

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held

plus: Cash & Cash Equivalents at beginning of period

Cash & Cash Equivalents at end of period

Additional Information:

plus: Investments on hand - end of year

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments

Notes 2016 2015

103,241        97,013          
2,527            4,216            

(88,354)        (79,750)        

12,811          4,564            
510               1,609            

(244)              (256)              

11b 17,170          21,223          

(16,391)        (7,036)           
(10,313)        (15,620)        

(4,281)           (2,912)           

(17,664)        (19,395)        

(211)              (199)              

77,761      74,185    

11a 3,290        3,995        

5c 74,471          70,190          

(211)              (199)              

(705)              1,629            

11a 3,995            2,366            

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes and Significant Accounting Policies.           page 7
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Contents of the Notes accompanying the Financial Statements

Details

Significant Accounting Policies
Income
Expenses
Asset Disposal & Fair Value Adjustments
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Financial Assets (Investments)
Inventories
Non-Current Assets
Financial Assets
Fixed Assets
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Valuation of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment
Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Reserves
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Other Reserves
Assets Subject to Restrictions
Reconciliation to Statement of Cashflows
Functions
Components of Functions
Functions - Material Budget Variations 
Financial Instruments
Commitments for Expenditure
Financial Indicators
Operating Leases
Superannuation
Interests in Other Entities
Non Current Assets Held for Sale & Discontinued Operations
Contingencies & Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised in the Balance Sheet
Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Additional Council Disclosures

Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves Adjustments
Gain on Carbon Tax Liability Repeal - year ended 30 June 2015
Trust Funds

n/a  -  not applicable

47
48 n/a

48

19

22

20

21

23

37

46

49

Page

1

Note

7a (i)

4

3

21

22

23

5a

9

6

2 17
20

22 n/a

46 n/a

45

35

44

39

12a

15

14

16

13

12b

18

17

43

36

46

12c

28
8c

8a

10

11

28

28
9b 29
9a

33
33

24 49

5b 22
5c 22
5d 22

7b 24

28
8b

page 8
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 City of Darwin 

 
 Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
 for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

 Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
 

  
  page 9 
 

The principal accounting policies adopted by Council 
in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. 
 
These policies have been consistently applied to all 
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
1 Basis of Preparation 
 
1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards 
 
This general purpose financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and 
relevant Northern Territory legislation.  
 
The financial report was authorised for issue on 15 
November 2016. 
 
1.2 Historical Cost Convention  
 
Except as stated below, these financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the historical 
cost convention. 
 
1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with Australian Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates, and 
requires management to exercise its judgement in 
applying Council’s accounting policies.   
 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of 
these Notes. 
 
1.4 Rounding  
 
All amounts in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). 
 
 
2 The Local Government Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Darwin is incorporated under the NT 
Local Government Act and has its principal place of 

business at Harry Chan Avenue, Darwin. These 
financial statements include the Council’s direct 
operations and all entities through which Council 
controls resources to carry on its functions. In the 
process of reporting on the Council as a single unit, 
all transactions and balances between activity areas 
and controlled entities have been eliminated. 
 
Other entities in which Council has an interest but 
does not control are reported in Note 18. 
 
Trust monies and property held by Council but 
subject to the control of other persons have been 
excluded from these reports.   
 
 
3 Income Recognition  
 
Income is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Income is 
recognised when the Council obtains control over the 
assets comprising the income, or when the amount 
due constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first 
occurs. 
 
Rates and levies 
Rates are recognised at the commencement of rating 
period.  Rates overpaid at the end of reporting period 
are classified as current liability. 
 
Grants and subsidies 
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations that 
are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as 
revenue in the year in which Council obtains control 
over them.  An equivalent amount is placed in a 
reserve until the funds are expended. 
 
Where grants, are received that are reciprocal in 
nature, revenue is recognised as the various 
performance obligations under the funding 
agreement are fulfilled.  
 
Non-cash contributions 
Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the 
recognition thresholds as stated in Note (6.2) are 
recognised as revenue and as non-current assets.  
Non-cash contributions below the thresholds are 
recorded as revenue and expenses. 
 
Physical assets contributed to Council by developers 
in the form of road works, stormwater and park 
equipment are recognised as revenue when the 
development becomes "on maintenance" (i.e. the 
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Council obtains control of the assets and becomes 
liable for any ongoing maintenance) and there is 
sufficient data in the form of drawings and plans to 
determine the approximate specifications and values 
of such assets. All non-cash contributions are 
recognised at the fair value of the contribution 
received on the date of acquisition. 
 
Cash contributions 
Developers also pay infrastructure charges for the 
construction of assets, such as roads and 
stormwater drainage. These infrastructure charges 
are not within the scope of AASB Interpretation 18 
because there is no performance obligation 
associated with them. Consequently, the 
infrastructure charges are recognised as income 
when received. 
 
Rental income 
Rental revenue from investment and other property 
is recognised as income on a periodic straight line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
Interest and dividends 
Interest received from term deposits is accrued over 
the term of the investment.  No dividends were 
received during the reporting period. 
 
Sales revenue 
Sale of goods is recognised when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
buyer, generally when the customer has taken 
undisputed delivery of the goods. 
 
Fees and Charges 
Fees and charges are recognised upon 
unconditional entitlement to the funds.  Generally 
this is upon lodgement of the relevant applications or 
documents, issuing of the infringement notice or 
when the service is provided. 
 
 
4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other 
Financial Instruments  
 
Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible 
to cash on hand at Council’s option with an 
insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity 
of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
 
Receivables for rates and annual charges are 
secured over the subject land, and bear interest at 
rates determined in accordance with the Local 

Government Act. Other receivables are generally 
unsecured and do not bear interest. 
 
All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date 
and adequate allowance made for amounts the 
receipt of which is considered doubtful. 
 
All financial instruments are recognised at fair value 
at the date of recognition. A detailed statement of the 
accounting policies applied to financial instruments 
forms part of Note 13. 
 
5 Inventories  
 
Inventories held in respect of stores have been 
valued by using the weighted average cost on a 
continual basis, after adjustment for loss of service 
potential.  
 
5.1 Real Estate Assets Developments  
 
Land acquired by Council with the intention of 
reselling it (with or without further development) is 
classified as inventory.  This land is valued at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. As an 
inventory item, this land held for resale is treated as 
a current asset. Proceeds from the sale of this land 
will be recognised as sales revenue on the signing of 
a valid unconditional contract of sale.  There is no 
such land held by Council at balance date. 
 
5.2 Other Real Estate Held for Resale  
 
Properties not acquired for development, but which 
Council has decided to sell as surplus to 
requirements, are recognised at the carrying value at 
the time of that decision. 
 
Certain properties, auctioned for non‐payment of 
rates in accordance with the Local Government Act 
but which failed to meet the reserve set by Council 
and are available for sale by private treaty, are 
recorded at the lower of the unpaid rates and 
charges at the time of auction or the reserve set by 
Council. Holding costs in relation to these properties 
are recognised as an expense when incurred.  There 
is no such land held by Council at balance date. 
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6 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & 
Equipment 
 
6.1 Initial Recognition  
 
All assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets 
acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, 
cost is determined as fair value at the date of 
acquisition. 
 
All non‐current assets purchased or constructed are 
capitalised as the expenditure is incurred and 
depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for 
use”.  
 
Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets 
given as consideration plus costs incidental to the 
acquisition, including architects' fees and 
engineering design fees and all other costs incurred. 
The cost of non‐current assets constructed by the 
Council includes the cost of all materials used in 
construction and direct labour on the project. 
 
6.2 Materiality  
 
Assets with an economic life in excess of one year 
are only capitalised where the cost of acquisition 
exceeds materiality thresholds established by 
Council for each type of asset. In determining (and in 
annually reviewing) such thresholds, regard is had to 
the nature of the asset and its estimated service life.  
 
Capitalisation thresholds applied during the year are: 
Items of infrastructure, property plant and equipment 
with a total value of less than $5,000, are treated as 
an expense in the year of acquisition.  All other items 
of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are 
capitalised. 
 
Where homogenous items are purchased with each 
individual item less than the threshold ($5,000) 
consideration is given to capitalisation based on 
materiality and practicality. 
 
6.3 Subsequent Recognition  
 
Land and improvements, land under roads, 
buildings, major plant and all infrastructure assets 
are measured on the revaluation basis, at fair value, 
in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant & 
Equipment. Other assets, plant and equipment and 
work in progress are measured at cost. 
 

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value 
are revalued, where required, so that the carrying 
amount of each class of asset does not materially 
differ from its fair value at the reporting date. This is 
achieved by engaging independent, professionally 
qualified valuers to determine the fair value for each 
class of property, plant and equipment assets at least 
once every 3 years.  An exception is the valuation of 
land under roads which is carried out internally every 
3 years. 
 
Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation 
of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the 
asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent it 
reverses a revaluation decrement for the class 
previously recognised as an expense.  A decrease in 
the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an 
expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, 
in the revaluation reserve of that asset class. 
 
On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the carrying 
amount of the asset and any change in the estimate 
of remaining useful life. 
 
Separately identified components of assets are 
measured on the same basis as the assets to which 
they relate. 
 
Significant uncertainties exist in the estimation of fair 
value of a number of asset classes including land, 
buildings and associated structures and 
infrastructure.  Further detail of these uncertainties, 
and of existing valuations, methods and valuers are 
provided at Note 7. 
 
6.4 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  
 
Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment assets recognised are systematically 
depreciated over their useful lives on a straight‐line 
basis which, in the opinion of Council, best reflects 
the consumption of the service potential embodied in 
those assets. 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values of classes of assets are reviewed annually. 
 
Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful 
life. 
 
Where assets have separately identifiable 
components that are subject to regular replacement, 
these components are assigned useful lives distinct 
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from the asset to which they relate.  Any expenditure 
that increases the originally assessed capacity or 
service potential of an asset is capitalised and the 
new depreciable amount is depreciated over the 
remaining useful life of the asset to the Council. 
 
Major depreciation periods for each class of asset 
are listed below. Depreciation periods for 
infrastructure assets have been estimated based on 
the best information available to Council, care 
should be used in interpreting financial information 
based on these estimates. 
 
The classes and useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment recognised by the Council are: 
 
 Plant & Equipment 
- Plant & Machinery 2 to 20 years 
- Other Equipment 5 to 50 years 
- Computer Equipment 2 to 5 years 
 
 
  Other Assets 
- Street & Park Furniture/Equipment 5  to 50 years 
- Other Structures 3  to 100 years 
- Office Furniture 5 to 20 years 
 
 
  Buildings 
- Buildings : Car Park Facilities 50 years 
- Buildings : Other 15 to 60 years 
- Other Structures : Swimming Pools 50 to 75 years  
 
 
  Stormwater Drainage 
- Pipes & Pits 80 years 
- Open Lined Drains 60 years 
- Subsoil Drainage 80 years 
 
 
  Roads & Pathways 
- Sealed Roads - Formation  Infinite 
- Sealed Roads - Pavement   86 years 
- Sealed Roads - Surface   15 to 25 years 
- Kerb & Channels   80 years 
- Roundabouts    50 years 
- Driveways    15 to 50 years 
- Pathways    20 to 50 years 
 
 
  Other Infrastructure Assets 
- Traffic Signals 35 years 
- Car Parks - Formation                        Infinite 
- Car Parks - Pavement                         86 years 
- Car Parks - Surface                             18 to 50 years        
 
 
 

6.5 Impairment  
 
Each non-current physical and intangible asset and 
group of assets is assessed for indicators of 
impairment annually.  If an indicator of possible 
impairment exists, the Council determines the asset's 
recoverable amount.  Any amount by which the 
asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount is recorded as an impairment loss.  The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the 
asset is carried at a revalued amount.  When the 
asset is measured at a revalued amount, the 
impairment loss is offset against the asset 
revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent 
available. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so 
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised as income unless the 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation surplus increase. 
 
6.6 Borrowing Costs  
 
Borrowing costs in relation to qualifying assets (net of 
offsetting investment revenue) have been capitalised 
in accordance with AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs”. 
The amounts of borrowing costs recognised as an 
expense or as part of the carrying amount of 
qualifying assets are disclosed in Note 3, and the 
amount (if any) of interest revenue offset against 
borrowing costs in Note 2. 
 
 
7 Investment property 
 
As at 30 June 2016 Council has not classified any 
assets as Investment Property. 
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8 Payables 
 
8.1 Goods & Services  
 
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the 
goods or services ordered and are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price net of applicable 
discounts other than contingent discounts.  Amounts 
owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 
day terms. 
 
8.2 Payments Received in Advance & Deposits 
 
Amounts other than grants received from external 
parties in advance of service delivery, and security 
deposits held against possible damage to Council 
assets, are recognised as liabilities until the service 
is delivered or damage reinstated, or the amount is 
refunded as the case may be. 
 
 
9 Borrowings  
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.   
 
Borrowings are carried at their principal amounts 
which represent the present value of future cash 
flows associated with servicing the debt. Interest is 
accrued over the period to which it relates, and is 
recorded as part of “Payables”.  
 
All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred. 
 
No borrowing costs have been capitalised on 
qualifying assets for the year ended 30 June 2016.   
 
Council has not received any interest free loans. 
 
 
10 Employee Benefits 
 
10.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 
 
Liabilities are recognised for employee benefits such 
as wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave in respect of services provided by the 
employees up to the reporting date.  Liabilities for 
employee benefits are assessed at each reporting 
date and are measured in accordance with AASB 
119. 

 
Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be 
paid or settled within 12 months are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Present values 
are calculated using government guaranteed 
securities rates with similar maturity terms. 
 
Sick leave 
Liabilities for non vesting sick leave are recognised at 
the time when the leave is taken and measured at 
the rates paid or payable, and accordingly no liability 
has been recognised in these reports. 
 
10.2 Superannuation  
 
The Council makes employer superannuation 
contributions in respect of its employees to the 
Statewide Superannuation Scheme and other 
schemes chosen by employees.  
 
The superannuation expense for the reporting period 
is the amount of the contribution the Council makes 
to the superannuation plans which provide benefits to 
its employees. 
 
 
11 Provisions 
 
11.1 Provisions for Reinstatement, Restoration 
and Rehabilitation 
 
Where these can be reliably estimated close down 
and restoration costs are provided for in the 
accounting period when the obligation arises, and 
are carried at the net present value of estimated 
future costs. 
 
In relation to the Shoal Bay Waste Disposal the 
Council has not to date been able to sufficiently 
reliably estimate the close down and restoration 
costs.  Recent developments in the Council’s Waste 
Strategy and improving information are expected to 
enable a reliable estimate of the close down and 
restoration obligations from and including the year 
ending 30 June 2017. 
 
11.2 Provision for Carbon Tax 
 
Council considers that it has no current or likely 
future liability for this tax. 
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12 Leases  
 
Council’s arrangements as a lessee are not material. 
Obligations and payments are expensed as they fall 
due. 
 
In respect of finance leases, where Council 
substantially carries all of the risks incident to 
ownership, the leased items are initially recognised 
as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
assets are disclosed within the appropriate asset 
class, and are amortised to expense over the period 
during which the Council is expected to benefit from 
the use of the leased assets. Lease payments are 
allocated between interest expense and reduction of 
the lease liability, according to the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. 
 
In respect of operating leases, where the lessor 
substantially retains all of the risks and benefits 
incident to ownership of the leased items, lease 
payments are charged to expense over the lease 
term. 
 
 
13 Construction Contracts  
 
Construction works undertaken by Council for third 
parties are not material.   
 
 
14 Equity Accounted Council Businesses  
 
Council does not operate any businesses required to 
be equity accounted. 
 
 
15 GST Implications  
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from the ATO or 
payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability 
respectively. 
 
In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting 
for the Goods & Services Tax”  
 
 Receivables and Creditors include GST 

receivable and payable. 
 

 Except in relation to input taxed activities, 
revenues and operating expenditures exclude 
GST receivable and payable. 
 

 Non-current assets and capital expenditures 
include GST net of any recoupment. 
 

 Amounts included in the Statement of Cash 
Flows are disclosed on a gross basis. 

 
 
 
16 New accounting standards and UIG  
     interpretations 
 
In the current year, Council adopted all of the new 
and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 
current reporting period.  The adoption of the new 
and revised Standards and Interpretations has not 
resulted in any material changes to Council's 
accounting policies. 
 
The City of Darwin has not applied any Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
been issued but are not yet effective with the 
exception of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value 
Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. 
Generally Council applies standards and 
interpretations in accordance with their respective 
commencement dates. The early adoption of AASB 
2015-7 has exempted Council from the disclosure of 
quantitative information and sensitivity analysis for 
some valuations categorised within Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2015-6 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities are the only new accounting 
standards with a future application date that may 
have a material impact on Council's financial 
statements. 
 
From 1 July 2016 AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures will apply to Council, which means that 
Council will disclose more information about related 
parties and transactions with those related parties. 
 
AASB 9, which replaces AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is 
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effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018 and must be applied retrospectively. 
The main impact of AASB 9 is to change the 
requirements for the classification, measurement 
and disclosures associated with financial assets. 
Under the new requirements the four current 
categories of financial assets stipulated in AASB 139 
will be replaced with two measurement categories: 
fair value and amortised cost and financial assets 
will only be able to be measured at amortised cost 
where very specific conditions are met. 
 
As a result, Council will be required to measure its 
financial assets at fair value.  There will be no 
financial impact on the financial statements. 
 
Council is still reviewing the way that revenue is 
measured and recognised to identify whether AASB 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will 
have a material impact.  To date no impact has been 
identified. 
 
AASB 15 is effective from 1 January 2018 and will 
replace AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 
Construction Contracts and a number of 
Interpretations. It contains a comprehensive and 
robust framework for the recognition, measurement 
and disclosure of revenue from contracts with 
customers.   
 
Other amended Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations which were issued at the date of 
authorisation of the financial report, but have future 
commencement dates are not likely to have a 
material impact on the financial statements. 
 

Effective for periods commencing 1 January 
2016: 

 AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
 

 AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards 

 
 AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards-Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 

 
 AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards-Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

 

 AASB 2014-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards-Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

 
 AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Equity Method in 
Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 
128] 

 
 AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture [AASB 10 & AASB 128] 

 AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 
Cycle [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 3, AASB 5, 
AASB 7, AASB 11, AASB 110, AASB 119, AASB 
121, AASB 133, AASB 134, AASB 137 & AASB 
140] 

 
 AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, 
AASB 134 & AASB 1049] 

 
 AASB 2015-5 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Investment Entities: 
Applying the Consolidation Exception [AASB 10, 
AASB 12 & AASB 128] 

 
 AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards (Part D) 
 

Effective for periods commencing 1 July 2016: 

 AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities 
 

 AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 10, AASB 124 & AASB 1049] 

 

Effective for periods commencing 1 January 
2017: 

 AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 
 

 AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 
15 
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Effective for periods commencing 1 January 
2018: 

 AASB Financial Instruments (December 2009) 
 

 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers 

 
 AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) 

 
 AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards (Part E) 
 

 AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014) 

 

Effective for periods commencing 1 January 
2019: 

 AASB 16 Leases 
 
 
17 Comparative Figures 
 
To ensure comparability with the current reporting 
period’s figures, some comparative period line items 
and amounts may have been reclassified or 
individually reported for the first time within these 
financial statements and/or the notes. 
 
 
18 Disclaimer 
 
Nothing contained within these statements may be 
taken to be an admission of any liability to any 
person under any circumstance. 
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Income

$ '000

(a). Rates Revenues

General Rates
General Rates
Total General Rates

Other Rates (Including Service Charges)

Domestic Waste Management
Parking - Special Rates
Total Other Rates

Total Rates Revenues

(b). Statutory Charges

Planning and Building Regulations
Animal Registration Fees & Fines
Parking Fines
Licences and Permit Fees
Fines and Penalties - Other 
Total Statutory Charges

(c). User Charges

Parking Fees
Community Centres
Cemetries
Property Lease
Sundry Sales
Waste Disposal Tipping Fees
Swimming Pool Fees
Other Fees and Charges
Total User Charges

(d). Investment Income

Interest on Investments
Interest from Overdue Rates and Charges
Total Investment Income

113               152               

179               

2,039            
736               

942               

64,707      

2,707        2,955      

2,346            

19,715      18,407    

11,155          

115               101               

6,342            

55,096          

4,009        

62,294    

169               

723               

650               
2,090            

126               

1,206            

3,784      

52                 53                 

57,336          

2015

7,198            
1,010            

Notes

55,096          

6,188            

57,336          

2016

7,371            
1,029            

1,241            
121               

114               
5,078            

133               

612               567               
12,433          

2,646            
361               309               

5,015            

page 17
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Income (continued)

$ '000

(e). Reimbursements

Private Works
Insurance & Other Recoupments
Legal Fees Recovery - Rates and Charges
Total Reimbursements

(f). Other Income

Other
Total Other Income

(g). Grants, Subsidies and Contributions

Revenue Specifically for New or Upgraded Assets
Developer Contributions - Carparking Shortfall
Developer Contributions - Other
Developer Contributions - Stormwater
Darwin Entertainment Centre
Heritage & Cultural
Mosquito Control
Recreation Facilities & Other Infrastructure
Transport (including Roads & Bridges and Paths Funding)

Total Revenue Specifically for New or Upgraded Assets
Clean Energy Future Grants
Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contributions

Federal Assistance Act - General Component
Federal Assistance Act - Road Component
Darwin Entertainment Centre
Environmental Protection
Heritage & Cultural
Library

Mosquito Control
NDRRA (National Disaster Recovery)
Planning
Other

Total Revenue for Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contributions
Total Grants, Subsidies and Contributions

(i) Sources of grants
Commonwealth Government
State Government
Other
Total

100               
374               

2,741            
1,092            

156               

20                 
81                 

336               

1,760            
1,847            

580               

35                 
1,549            

138               
101               

40                 
163               

45                 
1,479            

138               
 -   

149               

4,157            

1,744            
1,778            

-                    

81                 
6,635            

5,679            6,225            

10                 12                 

-                    

12,811          4,564            

149               

64                 

2,010            4,014          

811               637               

18,490      

18,490          10,789          

-                    -                  

3,999            118             
12,481          6,657          

-                -                    

811           

1,737            

10,789    

15                 
116               159               
369               284               

500           507         

637         

24                 

Notes 2016 2015

28                 -                    
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Income (continued)

$ '000

(h). Conditions over Grants & Contributions

Grants and contributions which were obtained on the condition that they
be expended for specified purposes or in a future period, but which are
not yet expended in accordance with those conditions, are as follows:

Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period

Less:
Expended during the current period from revenues
recognised in previous reporting periods
Developer Contributions for Infrastructure
Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants
Subtotal

Plus:
Amounts recognised as revenues in this reporting
period but not yet expended in accordance with the conditions
Developer Contributions for Infrastructure
Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants
Subtotal

Unexpended at the close of this reporting period

Net increase (decrease) in assets subject to conditions
in the current reporting period relating to grants & contributions

(i). Physical Resources Received Free of Charge

Land & Improvements
Infrastructure
Total Physical Resources Received Free of Charge

(741)              

7,388            

12,103          

(859)              

22,040          13,699          

(1,025)           

464               

(1,189)           (1,766)           

9,530            3,362            

-                    3,015            

8,341            1,596            

2,142            2,898            

Notes 2016 2015

13,699          

7,568        3,316      
7,568            301               

(330)              
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 3. Expenses

$ '000

(a). Employee Costs

Salaries and Wages
Superannuation
Workers' Compensation Insurance
Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT)
Other 
Less: Capitalised and Distributed Costs
Total Operating Employee Costs

Total Number of Employees
(Full time equivalent at end of reporting period based on Australian Public Service Commission methodology)

(b). Materials, Contracts and Other Expenses

(i) Prescribed Expenses
Auditor's Remuneration
 - Auditing the Financial Reports
 - Other Services
Bad and Doubtful Debts
Refunds of Carbon Tax Collected
Elected Members
Election Expenses
Operating Leases
Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses

(ii) Other Materials, Contracts and Expenses
Advertising and Marketing
Bank Charges
Contractors and Consultancy Costs
Darwin Entertainment Centre
Donations, Contributions and Assistance
Fuel and Registration
Insurance (excl.Workers Comp'n)
Legal
Postage
Power
Printing and Stationery
Professional Services
Raw Materials & Consumables
Subscriptions and Registrations
Telephone and Communications
Travel and Training
Water and Effluent
Other Materials and Services
Subtotal - Other Material, Contracts & Expenses

Total Materials, Contracts and Other Expenses

17

79                 46                 

295               

214               200               
572               594               
541               502               

9,338            

2,545            

46,051          

2,363            -                    

672               

(164)              (286)              

734               

2,721            

53                 

761               830               

10,436          
1,303            

102               

3,553            3,525            

1,466            

22,605          

46,707          

498               

2,471            
409               

4,040            1,691            

177               195               

627               
76                 46                 

580               1,221            

379               

354               

27,252    

316               

64                 56                 

317             

46                 

29,628      

355               516               

96                 

2,355            

274               

26,651          

Notes 2016 2015

24,411          

627               

188               

86                 

172               

48,398    50,091      

346               

23,015          

608               
791               773               
681               513               
112               
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 3. Expenses (continued)

$ '000

(c). Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment

Depreciation and Amortisation
Buildings
Stormwater Drainage
Roads & Pathways
Other Infrastructure Assets
Plant & Equipment
Other Assets
Total Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment

(d). Finance Costs

Interest on Loans
Total Finance Costs

Note 4. Asset Disposal & Fair Value Adjustments

Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment

Assets Renewed or Directly Replaced
Proceeds from Disposal
Less: Carrying Amount of Assets Sold
Gain (Loss) on Disposal

Assets Held for Sale
Proceeds from Disposal
Less: Carrying Amount of Assets Sold
Gain (Loss) on Disposal

Net Gain (Loss) on Disposal or Revaluation of Assets

22,646    

242               255               
242           255         

3,628            

(672)              808               

1,753            510               
(1,182)           (945)              

1,476            1,792            

21,133      

10,122          
761               

2,202            

-                    242               
-                    (340)              
-                    (98)                

2,306            

Notes 2016 2015

4,069            4,037            
10,319          

(672)          710         

704               

2,363            

page 21

84

84



   

City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 5. Current Assets

$ '000

(a). Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash on Hand at Bank
Total Cash & Cash Equivalents

(b). Trade & Other Receivables

Rateable Revenue and Charges
Interest and Extra Charges
Debtors - General
Govt. Grants, Subsidies, Contributions and Donations
GST Recoupment
Prepayments
Interest on Investments
Subtotal

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Debts
Total Trade & Other Receivables

(c). Other Financial Assets (Investments)

Term Deposits
Total Other Financial Assets (Investments)

Amounts included in other financial assets that are not expected to be received within 

12 months of reporting date are disclosed in Note 13

(d). Inventories

Stores & Materials
Total Inventories

Note 6. Non-Current Assets

$ '000

Nil

Notes 2016 2015

3,290            3,995            
3,290        3,995      

1,956            1,650            

140               813               
209               140               

552               401               
4,850            4,616            

76                 74                 

7,249        7,110      

8,476            8,358            

(1,227)           (1,248)           

693               664               

74,471          70,190          

131               116               

74,471      70,190    

131           116         

Notes 2016 2015
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 7b. Valuation of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment &
                Investment Property

$ '000

Valuation of Assets

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various Accounting Standards for either

recognition and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a "level"

in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

              measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

              directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Refer to Note 7a for the disclosure of the Fair Value Levels of Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment Assets.

Information on Valuations

Land is based on fair value hierarchy level 2 valuation inputs. 

The values are based on prices for similar assets in an active market, with directly or indirectly

observable adjustments for specific advantages or disadvantages attaching to the particular asset.

Valuations of land subject to restrictions (including land under roads) on use or disposal are based on fair

value hierarchy level 3 valuation inputs. They are based on prices for similar assets in an active 

market, but include adjustments for specific advantages or disadvantages attaching to the particular asset that are 

not directly or indirectly observable in that market, or the number and / or amount of observable adjustments of which 

are so great that the valuation is more fairly described as being based on level 3 valuation inputs.

Buildings, Roads & Pathways, Stormwater Drainage and Other Infrastructure Assets are based on fair value

hierachy level 3 valuation inputs - current replacement cost.  This method involves:

- The determination of the cost to construct the asset (or its modern engineering equivalent) using current prices for 

materials and labour, the quantities of each being estimated based on recent experience of this or similar Councils, 

or on industry construction guides where these are more appropriate.  

- The calculation of the depreciation that would have accumulated since original construction using current estimates 

of residual value and useful life under the prime cost depreciation method adopted by Council.

This method has significant inherent uncertainties, relying on estimates of quantities of materials and labour, 

residual values and useful lives, and the possibility of changes in prices for materials and labour, and the potential for 

development of more efficient construction techniques.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
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Note 7b. Valuation of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment &
                Investment Property (continued)

$ '000

Valuation of Assets (continued)

Other Information

Upon revaluation, the revalued replacement cost and accumulated depreciation are re‐stated such that the 

difference represents the fair value of the asset determined in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Accumulated depreciation is taken to be the difference between current replacement cost and fair value.  In the 

case of land, current replacement cost is taken to be the fair value.

Highest and best use

Transition to AASB 13 - Fair Value Measurement

The requirements of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement have been applied to all valuations undertaken since 1 July 

2013 as shown by the valuation dates by individual asset classes below.  

Capital works in Progress

 - Basis of valuation: Original cost

Land & Land Improvements
 - Basis of valuation: Market Value

 - Date of valuation: 30 June 2016.

 - Valuer: Certified Practising Valuers (AAPI), representing Assetval Pty Ltd.

 - Critical assumptions:

 - Results:  A decrement in  land valuation of $58.3M

Land Under Roads
 - Basis of valuation:  Market value
 - Date of valuation: 30 June 2014.
 - Valuer: Internal assessment
 - Critical assumptions:

 - Results:  The fair value of land under roads initially recognised by City of Darwin at 30 June 2014 was $51.5M.
The fair value of land under roads at 30 June 2016 is not deemed to be significantly different to the fair value currently
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016.

The valuation of the land assets was based on the current market value of the land were it to be acquired on the open 
market for the current use, giving consideration to the existing zoning.  This involved the analysis of all known relevant 
land sales, including englobo land sales, and extrapolating those derived values throughout the City of Darwin, making 
appropriate adjustments for increased values due to size, zoning, location and amenity.  During this process every effort 
was made to ensure the relativities of the rates per square metre adopted between the different uses and locations were 
sound.

All of Council's non financial assets are considered as being utilised for their highest and best use in relation to Local 
Government.

This valuation is based on guidelines published by State Governments within Australia and the average market value of 
land within the municipality.  The average market value is adjusted to recognise the englobo nature of land under roads 
and allowance for access & carriage way rights. Council considers that a reduction of 95% of the average market value 
is appropriate to reflect fair value in use. Although the valuation is based on underlying market values the broad range of 
assumptions used mean that the inputs are considered to be level 3.
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Note 7b. Valuation of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment &
                Investment Property (continued)

$ '000

Valuation of Assets (continued)

Buildings & Other Structures
 - Basis of valuation: Written down current replacement cost

 - Date of valuation: 30 June 2016.

 - Valuer: Certified Practising Valuers (AAPI), representing Assetval Pty Ltd.
 - Critical assumptions:

 - Results:  An increment in  building valuation of $6.0M

Infrastructure (Roads & Pathways. Stormwater Drainage and Other Infrastructure)
 - Basis of valuation: Written down current replacement cost

 - Date of valuation: 30 June 2014.
 - Valuer:  APV Valuers
 - Critical assumptions:

The approach estimated the replacement costs for each asset by componentising the assets into significant parts
with different useful lives and taking into account a range of factors. While the unit rates based on the square 
metres or similar capacity could be supported from market evidence (level 2) other inputs (such as estimates of 
residual value, pattern of consumption and asset condition) required extensive professional judgement and 
impacted significantly on  the final determination of fair value. Therefore these assets were classified as having 
been valued using level 3 valuation inputs.

The valuation of the buildings assets was based on the Depreciated Replacement Cost model as the building assets are 
considered to be assets of a community service nature, for which there is no active liquid market.  The depreciation 
rates adopted have regard to the age of the building, refurbishment history and the general appearance at the date of 
inspection.

The observable market evidence used to support the unit rates included evidence from actual construction contracts, 
comparison to rates adopted by reference councils and against industry construction cost guides.

During the year there were a number of new projects completed where the actual cost was recorded and the impact of 
depreciation at year end was negligible. While these could be classified as valued at level 2 given the low proportion of 
the total portfolio that these represented and the likelihood that in future valuations they would most likely be valued at 
level 3 the policy adopted is that all road network infrastructure assets are deemed to be valued at level 3.

The main level 3 inputs used are derived and evaluated as follows:

Asset Condition – The nature of road network infrastructure is that there are a very large number of assets which 
comprise the network and as a result it is not physically possible to inspect every asset for the purposes of completing a 
valuation. As a consequence reliance is placed on the accuracy of data held in the asset management system and its 
associated internal controls. This includes regular planned inspections and updates to the system following maintenance 
activities and renewal treatments. Likewise, especially for storm water network infrastructure, a large portion of the 
portfolio is located underground and may only be inspected on an irregular basis. 
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Note 7b. Valuation of Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment &
                Investment Property (continued)

$ '000

Valuation of Assets (continued)

Infrastructure (Roads & Pathways. Stormwater Drainage and Other Infrastructure) (continued)

The fair value of Infrastructure assets at 30 June 2016 is not deemed to be significantly different to the fair values
currently recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016

Plant & Equipment

 - Basis of valuation: Original cost

Other Assets

 - Basis of valuation: Original cost

Relationship between asset consumption rating scale and the level of consumed service potential – Under the cost 
approach the estimated cost to replace the asset is calculated and then adjusted to take account of accumulated 
depreciation. In order to achieve this, the Valuer determines an asset consumption rating scale for each asset type 
based on the inter-relationship between a range of factors. These factors and their relationship to the fair value require 
professional judgment and include asset condition, legal and commercial obsolescence and the determination of key 
depreciation related assumptions such as residual value, useful life and pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefit. The consumption rating scales were based initially on the past experience of the valuation firm and industry 
guides and were then updated to take into account the experience and understanding of Council’s own engineers, asset 
management and finance staff. The results of the valuation were further evaluated by confirmation against Council’s own 
understanding of the assets and the level of remaining service potential.  

 - Results:  
The revaluation of Infrastructure assets resulted in an increment in Roads & Pathways of $175M, Stormwater Drainage 
of $8.6M and Other Infrastructure Assets of $8.6M at 30 June 2014.

To provide assurance over the accuracy of this information and taking into account the cost-benefit of undertaking 
physical inspections the valuation relies upon a sampling approach (APV conducted a 10% sample of each asset type) 
where the data held in the system is verified by a physical inspection. While the sampling approach, combined with 
internal controls associated with the asset management system, provides a high level of comfort over the condition data 
held in the asset management system it does not provide a guarantee that all the data is correct and the condition as 
recorded is valid as at the date of valuation. 
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Note 8. Liabilities

$ '000

(a). Trade and Other Payables

Creditors and Accruals
Payments Received in Advance
Accrued Expenses - Employee Entitlements
Accrued Expenses - Finance Costs
Deposits, Retentions & Bonds
Rates Over Paid
Other
Total Trade and Other Payables

(b). Borrowings

Loans
Total Borrowings

All interest bearing liabilities are secured over the future 

revenues of the Council

(c). Provisions

Employee Entitlements (including oncosts)

Total Provisions

Note 9. Reserves

$ '000

(a). Asset Revaluation Reserve

Land and Improvements
Buildings
Stormwater Drainage
Roads & Pathways
Other Infrastructure
Other Assets
Total Asset Revaluation Reserve

Comparatives 2014/15

-                -                -                20,852      

-                

Notes

300,558    

36,079      

20,852      

311,309    -                -                -                311,309    

823,978    

437           -                

823,978    -                -                

-                (58,322)     

Transfers Impairments

-                

2016
Current

30,065      6,014        -                

-                

-                

-                

20152015
Non Current Current

4                -                 

9,468         -                 

-           12,514    

500       

-                 

3,513    

-                 

Notes

2016

-                 

2,375         

6,909    6,506      

11,444  

226            211            3,287         

500            6,506         676            

29              

211         

7,338         
980            

1,585         

3,513         

167            -                 118            

-                 -                 

27              -                 -                 
181            -                 

-                 
557            

226       

6,909         

3,287    

30/6/2016

Non Current

-                 

-           

676       

1,129         
-                 

-                 

823,978    

771,670    

437           

(52,308)     

1/7/2015
Increments 

(Decrements)

358,880    

-                

-                

102,435    -                -                -                102,435    
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Note 9. Reserves (continued)

$ '000

(b). Other Reserves

Externally Restricted
CBD Carparking Shortfall-Developer Contributions
CBD Carparking Shortfall - Rate Levy
DEC Air Conditioning Replacement
Highway/Commercial Carparking Shortfall
Market Site Development
Other Carparking Shortfall
Developer Contributions
Waste Management
Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants
Total Externally Restricted

Comparatives 2014/15

Internally Restricted
Asset Replacement & Refurbishment
Carbon Tax
Carry Forward Works
Darwin General Cemetery
DEC Asset Replacement & Refurbishment
Disaster Contingency
Election Expense
Environmental
IT Strategy
Nightcliff Community Hall
Off & On Street Parking
Plant & Vehicle Replacement
Public Art
Purchase of Land
Sale of Land
Street Lighting
Tree Risk Management
Watering
Total Internally Restricted

Comparatives 2014/15

Total Reserves

9,236      968         

89           (18)          575         -              
798         -              (341)        -              

62           13           (62)          -              

633         -              (500)        -              
1,355      -              (319)        -              

148         131         -              -              

6,938      (2,439)     (4,499)     -              
5,438      50           -              -              

33           -              (21)          -              

22,547    6,589      (5,782)     -              23,354    

7,968      420         (1,596)     -              6,792      

438         -              (438)        -              -              

23,354 4,265 5,482 -           33,101

351         10           -              -              361         
839         1,925      (1,001)     -              1,763      

Notes

1/7/2015

Capital 
Tfrs to 
(-from) 

Reserve

 Other 
Movements 

30/6/2016

26,633    

37,599

922         

13,113    

3,395 32,638

Operational 
Tfrs to 
(-from) 

Reserve

37,599    

7,982      

11,886    -              

(2,147)     -              

-           

-              

11,519    367         

119         

(8,356)

6,941      

-              

(451)        -              
(932)        -              
104         -              

-              -              
(88)          -              

13           
9,753      

228         54           -              -              282         

9,070      1,315      -              -              10,385    

65           1             (20)          -              46           
360         36           -              -              396         

2,505      
100         

-              
-              

-              
-              

2,666      2,269      
381         -              
144         (144)        
338         (250)        
757         

60,953 7,660 (2,874) -           65,739

(226)        -              
-              100         

615         (210)        

-              
5,488      

12           
133         

1,036      
279         
646         
457         

4,003      
485         

-              
-              

3,262      

179         
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Note 9. Reserves (continued)

PURPOSES OF RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Reserves
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements arising from changes in fair value of
non current assets (less any subsequent impairment losses, where applicable).

Externally Restricted Reserves 
Externally restricted reserves are restricted cash held in accordance with external legal requirements.
The use of these reserves must comply with legal requirements.

Carparking Shortfall-Developer Contributions (various reserves)
These reserves hold contributions from property developers to be used to fund future car parking infrastructure in
 line with the developer contribution plans.

CBD Carparking Shortfall - Rate Levy
This reserve holds income generated from parking special rates to be used for the provision, operation and 
maintenance of land, facilities and improvements for or in connection with the parking of vehicles in the central
business district.

DEC Air Conditioning Replacement
This reserve holds funds to be used for the future replacement or upgrade of the air conditioning system.

Market Site Development
This reserve holds lease income from Mindil, Nightcliff and Parap markets to provide for future upgrades of market

 sites.

Developer Contributions (other than car parking)
These reserves hold contributions from developers to be used to fund future road and stormwater drainage
construction.

Waste Management
This reserve holds funds to be used for the future development and rehabilitation of the Shoal Bay Waste Disposal 
site or alternative waste disposal methods.

Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants
This reserve holds unspent non recipricol grants and contributions received subject to specific expenditure
 requirements. The funds are held in reserve until expended in accordance with the grant or contribution conditions.
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Note 9. Reserves (continued)

Internally Restricted Reserves 
All other reserves are generally identified by Council resolution or operational requirements for funds set aside for
the future replacement or renewal of major assets or for unanticipated major expenditure such as a natural disaster. 
These reserves are not subject to external legal restrictions and if required, can be utilised by the Council for other 
purposes.

Asset Replacement & Refurbishment
This reserve holds funds for the future rehabilitation of major assets and the allocation and utilisation of surplus funds
in accordance with Council policy no. 66.

Carbon Tax
This reserve held funds collected prior to the repeal of the carbon tax and are no longer required to meet tax liability.

During 2015/16 the reserve was expended and the residual transferred to the Environment Reserve as set out in 

note 23.

Carry Forward Works
This reserve holds funds relating to projects that have not been completed in the current financial year but have
been identified to be completed in a future period.

Darwin General Cemetery
This reserve holds funds to be used for projects relating to the cemetery.

DEC Asset Replacement & Refurbishment
This reserve holds funds to pay for the future replacement or upgrade of assets at the Darwin Entertainment Centre.

Disaster Contingency
This reserve holds funds to provide for possible insurance and other expenses associated with responding to a 
natural disaster as well as designated disaster response and recovery projects.

Election Expense
This reserve holds funds to provide for the costs associated with holding the next Council election.

Environmental
This reserve holds funds for future environmental projects relating to Council's Environmental Management Plan 
and other associated plans.

IT Strategy
This reserve has been created for staged computer replacements and upgrades and other associated IT strategic
programs.

Nightcliff Community Hall
This reserve holds lease income from Nightcliff Community Hall to provide for future upgrades of the facility.

Off & On Street Parking
Holds funds from on and off street car parking operations to provide for future development of car parking.

Plant & Vehicle Replacement
This reserve holds funds to meet the cost of replacement of plant and vehicles.
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Note 9. Reserves (continued)

Public Art
This reserve holds funds to provide for future public art projects.

Purchase of Land
This reserve held funds for a specific land purchase. This reserve is no longer required and has been transferred to 

the Asset Replacement & Refurbishment Reserve.

Sale of Land
This reserve held funds from the sale of road reserve which have been transferred to the Asset Replacement &

Refurbishment Reserve.

Street Lighting
This reserve has been created to transition the expected introduction of a street lighting capital/depreciation charge
 by NT Government.

Tree Risk Management
Council has transferred funds to this reserve to cover the initial costs of tree risk management following the 
Coroners report on a fatality on Council leasehold land.

Watering
This reserve holds funds to provide for future costs associated with irrigating Council’s parks and gardens and water 
efficiency projects.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
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Note 10. Assets Subject to Restrictions

$ '000

The uses of the following assets are restricted, wholly or partially, 
by legislation or other externally imposed requirements. The assets 
are required to be utilised for the purposes for which control was 
transferred to Council, or for which the revenues were originally obtained.

Cash & Financial Assets
Externally restricted cash
Internally restricted cash
Total Cash & Financial Assets

Total Assets Subject to Restrictions

Note 11. Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows

(a). Reconciliation of Cash

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to
maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value. Cash at the
end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows
is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Total Cash & Equivalent Assets
Balances per Statement of Cash Flows

60,953          

37,599          

2015Notes

23,354          

2016

5a 3,995            3,290            
3,290            3,995            

65,739          60,953          

65,739          

32,638          
33,101          
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Note 11. Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

$ '000

(b). Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash
       from Operating Activities

Net Surplus/(Deficit)
Non-Cash Items in Income Statements
  Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
  Non-Cash Asset Acquisitions
  Grants for Capital Acquisitions (Treated as Investing Activity Receipts)
  Net (Gain) Loss on Disposals

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets
  Net (Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
  Change in Allowances for Under-Recovery of Receivables
  Net (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
  Net (Increase)/Decrease in Other Current Assets
  Net Increase/(Decrease) in Trade & Other Payables
  Net Increase/(Decrease) in Unpaid Employee Benefits
  Net Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities
Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations

(c). Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Acquisition of assets by means of:
  - Physical Resources Received Free of Charge
Amounts recognised in Income Statement
Total Non-Cash Financing & Investing Activities

(d). Financing Arrangements

Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the 
following lines of credit:

Bank Overdrafts
Corporate Credit Cards
Bank Guarantee Facility

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. 

(7,568)           

55                 55                 
200               200               
500               500               

-                    

7,568            3,316            
7,568            3,316            

(6,882)           
17,170          21,223          

(1,070)           1,872            

672               (710)              
18,167          25,842          

(118)              

(15)                5                   
(42)                -                    

227               309               

(258)              
335               

(3,316)           
(12,811)        (4,564)           

21                 

16,741          11,786          

22,646          

2i 7,568            3,316            

21,133          

Notes 2016 2015

page 34

97

97



C
ity

 o
f D

ar
w

in

N
ot

es
 to

 a
nd

 fo
rm

in
g 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

 fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

01
6

N
ot

e 
12

a.
 F

un
ct

io
ns

 O
rig

in
al

 
B

ud
ge

t 
A

ct
u

al
A

ct
ua

l
O

rig
in

al
 

B
ud

ge
t 

A
ct

u
al

A
ct

ua
l

 O
rig

in
al

 
B

ud
ge

t 
A

ct
u

al
A

ct
ua

l
A

ct
u

al
A

ct
ua

l
A

ct
u

al
A

ct
ua

l

$ 
'0

00
20

16
20

16
20

15
20

16
20

16
20

15
20

16
20

16
20

15
20

16
20

15
20

16
20

15

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

15
   

   
   

   
   

 
73

   
   

   
   

   
 

20
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

26
2

   
   

   
  

2,
14

8
   

   
   

  
2,

19
4

   
   

   
  

(2
,2

47
)

   
   

   
 

(2
,0

75
)

   
   

   
 

(2
,1

74
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n

67
1

   
   

   
   

  
92

5
   

   
   

   
  

1,
39

4
   

   
   

  
26

,0
56

   
   

   
25

,0
93

   
   

   
11

,2
67

   
   

   
(2

5,
38

5)
   

   
  

(2
4,

16
8)

   
   

  
(9

,8
73

)
   

   
   

 
10

3
   

   
   

   
  

33
   

   
   

   
   

 
49

3,
70

5
   

   
 

54
3,

28
2

   
   

 

P
ub

lic
 O

rd
er

 &
 S

af
et

y
3,

22
9

   
   

   
  

3,
21

0
   

   
   

  
3,

10
6

   
   

   
  

5,
19

6
   

   
   

  
5,

42
0

   
   

   
  

4,
20

6
   

   
   

  
(1

,9
67

)
   

   
   

 
(2

,2
10

)
   

   
   

 
(1

,1
00

)
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

1
   

   
   

   
  

89
6

   
   

   
   

  
81

9
   

   
   

   
  

H
ea

lth
83

   
   

   
   

   
 

21
9

   
   

   
   

  
21

9
   

   
   

   
  

13
5

   
   

   
   

  
99

   
   

   
   

   
 

93
   

   
   

   
   

 
(5

2)
   

   
   

   
   

12
0

   
   

   
   

  
12

6
   

   
   

   
  

21
9

   
   

   
   

  
21

9
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
t

50
   

   
   

   
   

 
53

   
   

   
   

   
 

62
   

   
   

   
   

 
55

6
   

   
   

   
  

60
7

   
   

   
   

  
54

2
   

   
   

   
  

(5
06

)
   

   
   

   
 

(5
54

)
   

   
   

   
 

(4
80

)
   

   
   

   
 

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
12

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

&
 E

du
ca

tio
n

18
2

   
   

   
   

  
46

0
   

   
   

   
  

11
2

   
   

   
   

  
2,

04
3

   
   

   
  

1,
96

3
   

   
   

  
2,

42
3

   
   

   
  

(1
,8

61
)

   
   

   
 

(1
,5

03
)

   
   

   
 

(2
,3

11
)

   
   

   
 

17
3

   
   

   
   

  
11

0
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

H
ou

si
ng

 &
 C

om
m

un
ity

 A
m

en
iti

es
20

,9
49

   
   

   
21

,3
49

   
   

   
25

,3
23

   
   

   
24

,3
26

   
   

   
27

,4
85

   
   

   
24

,5
74

   
   

   
(3

,3
77

)
   

   
   

 
(6

,1
36

)
   

   
   

 
74

9
   

   
   

   
  

1,
88

5
   

   
   

  
24

2
   

   
   

   
  

17
2,

33
7

   
   

 
17

6,
18

3
   

   
 

R
ec

re
at

io
n 

&
 C

ul
tu

re
3,

68
0

   
   

   
  

9,
18

9
   

   
   

  
3,

25
4

   
   

   
  

24
,4

23
   

   
   

24
,3

73
   

   
   

26
,3

06
   

   
   

(2
0,

74
3)

   
   

  
(1

5,
18

4)
   

   
  

(2
3,

05
2)

   
   

  
8,

23
5

   
   

   
  

2,
20

4
   

   
   

  
42

,9
11

   
   

   
30

,1
57

   
   

   

T
ra

ns
po

rt
 &

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

12
,1

85
   

   
   

20
,6

50
   

   
   

16
,5

22
   

   
   

16
,7

26
   

   
   

14
,2

14
   

   
   

26
,3

85
   

   
   

(4
,5

41
)

   
   

   
 

6,
43

6
   

   
   

  
(9

,8
63

)
   

   
   

 
13

,6
86

   
   

   
9,

42
4

   
   

   
  

48
1,

93
9

   
   

 
47

7,
96

8
   

   
 

E
co

no
m

ic
 A

ffa
irs

1,
51

3
   

   
   

  
1,

55
9

   
   

   
  

1,
45

5
   

   
   

  
35

0
   

   
   

   
  

36
4

   
   

   
   

  
56

1
   

   
   

   
  

1,
16

3
   

   
   

  
1,

19
5

   
   

   
  

89
4

   
   

   
   

  
10

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

G
en

er
al

 P
ur

po
se

 In
co

m
e^

61
,3

69
   

   
   

60
,8

20
   

   
   

58
,8

70
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

61
,3

69
   

   
   

60
,8

20
   

   
   

58
,8

70
   

   
   

1,
74

4
   

   
   

  
1,

76
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

  T
o

ta
l F

u
n

ct
io

n
s/

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

10
3,

92
6

   
  

11
8,

50
7

   
  

11
0,

33
7

   
  

10
2,

07
3

   
  

10
1,

76
6

   
  

98
,5

51
   

   
 

1,
85

3
   

   
  

 
16

,7
41

   
   

 
11

,7
86

   
   

 
26

,0
58

   
   

 
14

,1
05

   
   

 
1,

19
1,

78
8

  
1,

22
8,

40
9

  

^ 
In

cl
ud

es
: R

at
es

 &
 A

nn
ua

l C
ha

rg
es

 (
in

cl
. E

x-
G

ra
tia

),
 u

nt
ie

d 
G

en
er

al
 P

ur
po

se
 G

ra
nt

s,
  u

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d 

in
te

re
st

 a
nd

 in
ve

st
m

en
t i

nc
o

m
e

1.
  I

nc
lu

de
s:

 C
ap

ita
l i

nc
om

e 
an

d 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns

F
u

n
ct

io
n

s/
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
T

O
T

A
L

 A
S

S
E

T
S

 H
E

L
D

 
(C

U
R

R
E

N
T

 &
N

O
N

-C
U

R
R

E
N

T
)

G
R

A
N

T
S

 IN
C

L
U

D
E

D
IN

 IN
C

O
M

E
IN

C
O

M
E

E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

S
U

R
P

L
U

S
 (

D
E

F
IC

IT
)

In
co

m
e,

 E
xp

en
se

s 
an

d
 A

ss
et

s 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 d

ir
ec

tl
y 

at
tr

ib
u

te
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 F
u

n
ct

io
n

s 
/ A

ct
iv

it
ie

s.

D
et

ai
ls

 o
f 

th
es

e 
F

u
n

ct
io

n
s/

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

ar
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 in

 N
o

te
 1

2(
b

).

pa
ge

 3
5

98

98



City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 12b. Components of Functions

$ '000

The activities relating to Council functions are as follows:

GOVERNANCE

ADMINISTRATION

PUBLIC ORDER AND SAFETY

HEALTH

ENVIRONMENT

COMMUNITY SERVICES AND EDUCATION

HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES

RECREATION AND CULTURE

TRANSPORT AND COMMUNICATION

Urban roads, bridges, footpaths, parking areas, street lighting, other.

ECONOMIC AFFAIRS

Tourism and area promotion, industrial development promotion, other business undertakings.

GENERAL PURPOSE INCOME

Income not otherwise attributed to other functions or activities includes rates and annual charges, untied General 
Purpose grants and unrestricted interest and investment income.

Public libraries, community centres, public halls, other cultural services, swimming pools, sporting grounds, parks and
gardens, other sport and recreation.

Costs relating to the Council's role as a component of democratic government, including elections, members fees and
expenses, subscriptions to local authority associations, meetings of Council and policy making committees, area
represenation and public disclosure and compliance, together with related administration costs.

Costs not otherwise attributed to other functions or activities.

Animal control, enforcement of local government regulations and emergency services.

Administration and inspection, food control, insect/vermin control, noxious plants, other.

Programs and activities that promote and advocate for the preservation and best practice management of the natural
environment.

Administration, family day care, child care, youth services, other family and children, aged and disabled, migrant
services, aboriginal services, other community services, education.

Housing, town planning, domestic waste management services, other waste management services, street cleaning,
other sanitation and garbage, urban stormwater drainage, environmental protection, public cemetries, public
conveniences, other community amenities.
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 12c. Functions - Material Budget Variations

This Note sets out the details of MATERIAL VARIATIONS between Council's Original Budget and its 
Actual Results for the year as per the Income Statement - even though such variations may have 
been adjusted for during each Budget Review.

Note that for Variations of Budget to Actual :

Material Variations represent those variances that amount to 10% or more of the original budgeted figure.
F = Favourable Budget Variation, U = Unfavourable Budget Variation

$ '000

Budget Variations relating to Council's Operating Result by Functions include:

Income $'000's $'000's $'000's F/U Ref
Governance F
Administration F
Public Order & Safety U
Health F
Environment F
Community Services & Education F
Housing & Community Amenities F
Recreation & Culture F
Transport & Communication F
Economic Affairs F
General Purpose Income^ U

  Total Functions/Activities

Ref Reasons for Variations Include
Additional income received for By Election electoral voter infringements and Chief Officers Group 
registrations
Additional income includes maternity leave income received from Federal Government, legal fees 
recovery and increased Fuel Tax credits
Mosquito Control grant received (not budgeted)
Faces in Spaces grant $150k, banner and street food permit income
Material variations relate to grant funding received during the year which includes Parap Pool, 
Velodrome, Garanmanuk Park, offset by change in grant funding arrangement for Darwin Entertainment
Centre 
Material variations relate to contributed assets for Muirhead Stage1, grant funding received during the 
year: which includes R2R, intersection upgrades,  Bike Path, Traffic Signal studies and upgrades and 
contributed infrastructure assets. Offset by unrealised Black Spot grant funding and On & Off Street 
Parking income. 

1

2

3
4
5

6

20,650    
1,559      

60,820    

1
2

3

4

5
400       

5,509    

153%

58         
254       
(19)        
136       

3           
278       

15          
671        

3,229     
83          
50          

182        460         

%
387%
38%
-1%

164%
6%

73           
925         

3,210      
219         

53           

2016 2016 2016
Budget Actual ---------- Variance* ----------

2%
150%
69%
3%
-1%

103,926 

6

118,507  14,581  

20,949   
3,680     

12,185   
1,513     

61,369   
46         

(549)      

8,465    

21,349    
9,189      
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City of Darwin

Note 12c. Functions - Material Budget Variations (cont.)
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

This Note sets out the details of MATERIAL VARIATIONS between Council's Original Budget and its 
Actual Results for the year as per the Income Statement - even though such variations may have 
been adjusted for during each Budget Review.

Note that for Variations of Budget to Actual :

Material Variations represent those variances that amount to 10% or more of the original budgeted figure.
F = Favourable Budget Variation, U = Unfavourable Budget Variation

$ '000

Note 12c. Functions - Material Budget Variations
Expenses $'000's $'000's $'000's F/U Ref
Governance F
Administration F
Public Order & Safety U
Health F
Environment U
Community Services & Education F
Housing & Community Amenities U
Recreation & Culture F
Transport & Communication F
Economic Affairs U

  Total Functions/Activities

Ref Reasons for Variations Include
Mosquito Control budget not spent
Prior years carbon tax collected reimbursed and Shoal Bay Waste Facility operational costs below 
anticipated budget
Majority relates to street lighting repairs & maintenance charge being deferred until 1/1/2018 by NTG.

102,073 101,766  307       

1
2

3

16,726   14,214    2,512    3
350        364         (14)        

15%
-4%

24,326   27,485    (3,159)   2
24,423   24,373    50         

-13%
0%

556        607         (51)        
2,043     1,963      80         

-9%
4%

5,196     5,420      (224)      
135        99           36         127%

-4%
26,056   25,093    963       

2,262     2,148      114       
%

5%
4%

2016 2016 2016
Budget Actual ---------- Variance* ----------
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 13. Financial Instruments

$ '000

Recognised Financial Instruments

Bank, Deposits at Call, Short Term Deposits Accounting Policy:
Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value; Interest is

recognised when earned.

Terms & Conditions:
Deposits are returning fixed interest rates between 2.82% and

3.32%  (2015: 2.6% and 3.63%). Short term deposits have an 

average maturity of 119 days and a weighted average interest 

rate of 3.04% (2015: 100 days and 3.2%).  

The Council may be exposed to credit risk through its 

investments held with financial institutions.

Council's investment policy complies with NTG requirements

and outlines limits that assist to mitigate the risk. 

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity.

Receivables Accounting Policy:
Rates & Associated Charges Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(including legals & penalties for late payment) An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed 

annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

Note: These receivables do not meet the definition

of "financial instruments" and have been excluded Terms & Conditions:
from the following disclosures. Secured over the subject land, arrears attract interest of 18%

(2015: 18%). Council is not materially exposed to any individual

debtor, credit risk exposure is concentrated within the 

Council's boundaries in the Northern Territory.

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance).

Receivables Accounting Policy:
Fees & Other Charges Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.

An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed 

annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

Terms & Conditions:
Unsecured, and do not bear interest. Council is not materially

exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk exposure is

concentrated within the Council's boundaries.

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance).
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 13. Financial Instruments (continued)

$ '000

Recognised Financial Instruments

Receivables Accounting Policy:
Other Levels of Government Carried at nominal value.

Terms & Conditions:
Amounts due are calculated in accordance with the

terms and conditions of the respective programs following

advice of approvals, and do not bear interest. All amounts

are due by Departments and Agencies of State and Federal

Governments.

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value.

Liabilities Accounting Policy:
Creditors and Accruals Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for

goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Council.

Terms & Conditions:
Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value.

Liabilities Accounting Policy:
Interest Bearing Borrowings Carried at the principal amounts. Interest is charged as an 

expense as it accrues.

Terms & Conditions:
Secured over future revenues, borrowings are repayable;

interest is charged at fixed rates of 6.62%

(Council has only 1 loan).

Carrying Amount:
Approximates fair value.

Liabilities Accounting Policy:
Finance Leases Accounted for in accordance with AASB 117.
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 13. Financial Instruments (continued)

$ '000

2016
Financial Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Receivables
Other Financial Assets
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Current Borrowings
Non-Current Borrowings
Total Financial Liabilities

$ '000

2015
Financial Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Receivables
Other Financial Assets
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Current Borrowings
Non-Current Borrowings
Total Financial Liabilities

The following interest rates were applicable
to Council's Borrowings at balance date:

Fixed Interest Rates

Net Fair Value
All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments . There is no recognised market for

the financial assets of the Council.

3,724           3,513           

6.62% 3,513           6.62% 3,724           

Due

< 1 year

-                    70,190          70,190          
-                    79,940          78,923          

11,840          2,274            
-                    2,274            

< 1 year & ≤ 5 years

74,471          

-                    

-                    2,274            
226               

6,171            -                    

-                    -                    

2,729            

-                    

Due

> 5 years

10,464          

5,755            

10,464          -                    
455               -                    

5,755            

-                    

2,274            

70,190          

455               -                    

-                    
79,940          -                    

11,385          

10,919          

-                    
83,932          

5,186            

Values

74,471          

Cash Flows

10,464          

-                    
211               

3,290            -                    

Carrying

2,274            

30 June 2016

Interest Rate

Carrying

Interest RateValue

-                    455               
11,385          

-                    

Due > 1 year

-                    3,995            3,995            
-                    

5,003            

2,274            

30 June 2015

2,729            3,513            

4,738            

Due Total Contractual

11,385          

-                    

> 5 years

CarryingDue > 1 yearDue

& ≤ 5 years

-                    

4,548            3,287            

16,843          

15,467          13,977          

15,109          

Carrying

Value

455               

3,290            3,290            

83,932          82,947          
74,471          

-                    
3,995            

Total Contractual

-                    6,171            

Cash Flows Values

Weighted Avg Weighted Avg
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 13. Financial Instruments (continued)

$ '000

Risk Exposures

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The maximum 

credit risk on financial assets of the Council is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts. 

All Council investments are made in accordance with Council's investing policy and Ministerial guidelines.

Other than investments or any other exceptions detailed in Notes 5 & 6 in relation to individual classes of receivables,

exposure is concentrated within the Council's boundaries, and there is no material exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. All

of Council's financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence

neither market risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities. 

In accordance with the model Treasury Mangement Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of
maturity dates. Council also has available a range of bank overdraft and standby borrowing facilities that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Council is exposed to interest rate risk through investments and borrowings with financial institutions. Council does

not undertake any hedging of interest rate risk.
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 14. Commitments for Expenditure

$ '000

(a). Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Buildings
Infrastructure
Plant & Equipment

These expenditures are payable:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years

(b). Other Expenditure Commitments

Other expenditure committed for (excluding inventories) at the reporting
date but not recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Audit Services
Waste Management Services
Other Maintenance Contracts
Recreation
Electricity
Security Services
Other

These expenditures are payable:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years

(c). Finance Lease Commitments

Council has no Finance Leases.

3,374            8,808            

46                 

53,373          

18,422          

39,869          

53,373          

2,383            

660               

508               

582               

491               403               

3,891            

2016 2015

-                    

-                    8                   

339               592               

1,500            

6,884            3,891            

7,392            

177               
7,215            

48,163          

7,392            

-                    
43,299          

18,380          
29,741          34,993          

-                    3,073            

Notes

48,163          

3,891            
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 15. Financial Indicators

$ '000

Refer to "Finance Overview" in Annual Report.

Amounts
2016 2016 2015 2014

Indicator Prior Periods

page 44

107

107



City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 16. Operating Leases

$ '000

Leases Providing Revenue to the Council

Investment Property

Council has not classified any Land or Buildings as "Investment Property".

Lessees commitments under all non-cancellable lease agreements,
including those relating to Investment Property, are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Lease Payment Commitments of Council

Council has entered into non-cancellable operating leases for various items of property,
plant and equipment.

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

1,235            

2015

850               

2016

861               
13                 

585               
44                 

1,260            163               
2,213            

1,005            
1,660            

377               

4,323            2,828            

361               

1,006            

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases that have not 
been recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

Council owns various buildings, plant and other facilities that are available for 
hire or lease (on a non-cancellable basis wherever practicable) in 
accordance with the published revenue policy. Rentals received from such 
leases are disclosed as property lease in Note 2.
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 17. Superannuation

$ '000

Council makes contributions to superannuation schemes selected by employees under the “choice of 

fund” legislation. All such schemes are of the accumulation type, where the superannuation benefits accruing to the 

employee are represented by their share of the net assets of the scheme, and no further liability attaches to the 

Council.

Accumulation only members receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer 

contributions are based on a fixed percentage of ordinary time earnings in accordance with superannuation guarantee 

legislation (9.50% in 2015/16; 9.50% in 2014/15).  No further liability accrues to the Council as the superannuation 

benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund. 

Note 18. Interests in Other Entities

Council has no interest in any Equity Accounted Businesses such as Joint Ventures, Associates & Joint Operations. 

Note 19. Non-Current Assets Held for Sale & Discontinued Operations

$ '000

Non Current Assets & Disposal Group Assets

- Plant & Equipment (Fleet)
Total Non Current Assets & Disposal Group Assets

Details of Assets & Disposal Groups

Plant & Equipment (Fleet) assets held for sale were either under a conditional agreement

expected to be unconditional during the first half of 2016/17 or held by Auctioneers

for imminent sale.

211           -             
-                    211               

2016 2015
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 20. Contingencies & Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised in the Balance Sheet

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Balance Sheet, but are 

considered relevant to the users of the financial report.

1. BANK GUARANTEES

Council has provided no guarantees that may result in a liability.

2. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND DISPUTES

Council is involved in an ongoing contractual dispute regarding a requirement for a tenant to
carry out works.  The matter is now going to appeal.  Based on legal advice the, Council does not expect the outome
of this dispute to have a material effect on the Council's financial position.  In Council's opinion disclosure of further
information would be prejudicial to the interests of the Council.

Council is taking legal action to recover a bank guarantee providing security over contractual performance.
If the guarantee is not recovered the loss to Council is estimated at $251,000.

3. OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Council is involved from time to time in various claims incidental to the ordinary course of business including claims

for damages relating to its services.  It is not practical to estimate the potential liability at this stage.

Council believes that it is appropriately covered for claims through its insurance coverage and does not expect any

material liabilities to eventuate.

page 47

110

110



City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 21. Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Council is unaware of any material or significant "non adjusting events" that should be disclosed.

Note 22. Equity - Retained Earnings and Revaluation Reserves Adjustments

(a). Correction of Error/s relating to a Previous Reporting Period

     Council made no correction of errors during the current reporting period.

(b). Voluntary Changes in Accounting Policies

Council has voluntarily prepared these financial statements based on the South Australian model financial 
statements.  This is supported by Local Government NT and the Department of Local Government and Community 
Services (in 2014/15 Council prepared its statements based on the Queensland model).  Where the model conflicts 
with NT legislation the approach required by NT legislation is adopted. Where necessary previous year comparatives 
are restated.  The changes in presentation are not considered material.  

(c). Changes in Accounting Standards

     There were no changes in accounting standards that affected prior year balances during the year.

-                  
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City of Darwin

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 23. Gain on Carbon Tax Liability Repeal - year ended 30 June 2015

$ '000

As at the 30 June 2014 Council had recognised a provision of $7.13M for the obligation to settle to the 

Commonwealth Government  carbon tax collected  on emissions during prior financial years.

The Commonwealth Government repealed the carbon tax legislation on the 17 July 2014 with effect from 1 July 2014.

As a result no new carbon tax liability was incurred from 1 July 2014 and Council derecognised the provision in the

Statement of Financial Position. The gain from the derecognition is itemised in the

Statement of Comprehensive Income as a Gain on Tax Liability Repeal during 30 June 2015.

The carrying amount of the provision relating to the liability incurred up to the date of the repeal was transferred

to a specific purpose Carbon Tax Reserve at the Ordinary Council Meeting held on the 2nd June 2015 pending Council's

legal consideration and decisions on application of the balance.

Council resolved at the Ordinary Council meeting held on 28 July 2015 to utilise funds as follows:

- credit $29.67 per domestic  waste service per year  on which carbon tax was levied in 2012/13 and 2013/14

  estimated to be $1.6M.

- allocate $4 million to improvements at Shoal Bay Waste Management Facility; and

- allocate the balance to specific green house gas minimising projects.

During 2015/16 the above matters were actioned, refunds were made to City of Palmerston and Litchfield Shire Councils

and remaining funds for the specific green house gas minimising projects were transferred to the Environmental Reserve.

Gain Carbon Tax Repeal
Revenues - Carbon Tax Provision

Expenses - Carbon Units
GAIN CARBON TAX LIABILITY REPEAL

Note 24. Trust Funds

$ '000

Trust Funds Held for Outside Parties
Security Deposits and Other

Darwin Waterfront Corporation
TOTAL TRUST FUNDS

2016 2015

-                    6,938            

2016 2015

-                    7,137            
-                    (199)              

2016 2015

615               616               
2                   2                   

617               618               
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PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this report is to present the Draft City of Darwin Annual Report 
2015/16 (excluding Financial Statements).  
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 

Outcome 
5.3 Good governance 

Key Strategies 
5.3.5 Increase community awareness of the role and achievements of Council 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 In accordance with the Local Government Act, Council must, on or before 15 

November each year, report to the Minister on its work during the financial year 
ending on the preceding 30 June.  

 The report must include a copy of the Council’s audited financial statement for 
the relevant financial year. The 2015/16 financial statements will be included in 
the Annual Report following consideration by the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee at this same meeting. 

 The Annual Report must also contain an assessment of the Council’s 
performance against the objectives stated in the relevant municipal or shire plan 
(applying indicators of performance set in the plan). 

 The Annual Report will be presented to the Council meeting on the 15 November 
2016. 
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REPORT NUMBER:  16TC0066 VG:ph 
SUBJECT:  DRAFT CITY OF DARWIN ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
THAT Report Number 16TC0066 VG:ph entitled Draft City of Darwin Annual Report 
2015/16, be received and noted. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

Section 199 of the Local Government Act contains the following provisions: 

 Part 14.1 Annual reports 

 199 Annual reports 

 (1) A Council must, on or before 15 November in each year, report to 
the Minister on its work during the financial year ending on the 
preceding 30 June. 

 (2) The report must include a copy of the Council’s audited financial 
statement for the relevant financial year. 

 (3) The report must also contain an assessment of the Council’s 
performance against the objectives stated in the relevant 
municipal or shire plan (applying indicators of performance set in 
the plan). 

(4) As soon as practicable after the report has been delivered to the 
Minister, the council must: 

 (a) publish the report on the Council’s website; and 

 (b) publish a notice in a newspaper circulating generally in the area 
informing the public that copies of the report may be 
downloaded from the Council’s website or obtained 
from the Council’s public office. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
A responsibility of the Risk Management and Audit Committee is to ensure that the 
City of Darwin Annual Report 2015/16 contains an accurate assessment of 
performance against the goals, outcomes and strategies outlined in the Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan and 2015/16 Municipal Plan. 
 
The Strategic Plan provides a key set of 25 indicators that Council utilises each year 
to assess and monitor progress in implementing the plan. Results against the 25 
indicators are provided at the commencement of reporting on each Strategic Plan 
Goal in the Draft Annual Report.   
 
The 2015/16 Municipal Plan outlines Key Performance Indicators for each Program 
Profile to measure success of the yearly program. Each Program Profile supports 
Council delivering on its defined outcomes. The Key Performance Indicator results 
for program profiles are provided at the introduction to each outcome in the Draft 
Annual Report.  
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The Draft Annual Report utilises a ‘traffic light’ colour coding system for delivery of 
actions and the Key Performance Indicator results.  
 
Green represents being on track or better (i.e. >90%), orange represents a marginal 
variance of between 70% - 90% of the target or action being achieved and a red icon 
highlights that actual performance or delivery of the action was less than 70%.  
 
An explanation is provided for each action or Key Performance Indicator which did 
not achieve an on track result (i.e. less than 90% - orange and red traffic lights). 
 
At the Risk Management and Audit Committee held on 22 August 2014 the 
committee requested consideration of the accuracy of the performance measures in 
the Annual Report. It was decided this was to be further clarified through the 2015/16 
Annual Report process. 
 
Through the development of the 2015/16 Annual Report it has been identified that 
the source data is available for all of the results of the 25 strategic plan indicators 
and the majority of Municipal Plan Key Performance Indicators. 
 
These and previous findings have been used to continually improve the development 
of Council’s annual Municipal Plan by removing KPIs which are no longer relevant or 
have source data available and ensuring all remaining or new KPIs have source data 
and a defined methodology for reporting. 
 
As such, Council is now in a position to confirm that source data is available for all 
KPIs in the 2016/17 Municipal Plan. 
 
The complete Annual Report 2015/16 (including Audited Financial Statements) will 
be presented to Council at the 1st Ordinary Meeting scheduled to be held on 
Tuesday 15 November 2016 for adoption. 
 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
Nil 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
Nil 
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
Funding was budgeted for within the approved 2015/16 Municipal Plan for the cost of 
an external provider to design, format and produce the 2015/16 Annual Report.  
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RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council must prepare the Annual Report by 15 November 2016 and as soon as 
practicable after delivery to the Minister, publish the report on the Council’s website 
and publish a notice in a newspaper circulating generally within the area informing 
the public that the report is available. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
In order to reduce Council’s footprint, only a limited number of hard copy reports will 
be produced (50). Customers will be referred to Council’s website if they wish to read 
the report. The (50) hard copy reports have been printed on 100% recycled paper. 
 
COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VANESSA GREEN MARK BLACKBURN
MANAGER STRATEGY AND 
OUTCOMES 

EXECUTIVE MANAGER

 
For enquiries, please contact Mark Blackburn on 8930 0516 or email: 
m.blackburn@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment A: Draft City of Darwin Annual Report 2015/16 

Submitted under separate cover. 
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ENCL: 
NO 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE/OPEN 

AGENDA ITEM: 10.4 

OUTSTANDING AUDIT ISSUE NO. 140 - STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK - 
FINAL REPORT 

REPORT No.: 16TC0067 VG:ph  COMMON No.: 1230662 DATE: 28/10/2016

 
Presenter: Manager Strategy & Outcomes, Vanessa Green 
 
Approved: Executive Manager, Mark Blackburn 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to finalise Outstanding Audit Issue No. 140 - Strategic 
Performance Framework. 
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 
Outcome 
5.3 Good governance 
Key Strategies 
5.3.3 Understand and manage Council’s risk exposure 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 Audit Issue No. 140 is now complete.  
 In September 2015 KPMG was engaged to review the Strategic Performance 

Framework and the implementation of Outstanding Audit Issue 140 items. 
 A key recommendation was that Council consider replacing the Quarterly Team 

Update Reports with quarterly Municipal Plan reporting. This is now being 
implemented with the first revised quarterly reports to be presented to Council 
Committees in November 2016. 
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REPORT NUMBER:  16TC0067 VG:ph 
SUBJECT:  OUTSTANDING AUDIT ISSUE NO. 140 - STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE 

FRAMEWORK - FINAL REPORT 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16TC0067 VG:ph entitled Outstanding Audit Issue No. 

140 - Strategic Performance Framework - Final Report, be received and 
noted. 

 
B. THAT Outstanding Audit Issue No. 140 - Strategic Performance Framework 

Item 4.1 be moved to the Completed Audit Issues Register.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
PREVIOUS DECISIONS 
 
DECISION NO.21\4457 (27/05/16) 
 
Outstanding Audit Issue No. 140 - Strategic Performance Framework - 
Progress Report 4 
Report No. 16TC0033 SJ:mb (27/05/16)  Common No. 1230662 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16TC0033 SJ:mb entitled Outstanding Audit Issue No. 

140 - Strategic Performance Framework - Progress Report 4, be received 
and noted. 

 
B. THAT the Outstanding Audit Issue Register be updated as detailed in 

Attachment A of Report Number 16TC0033 SJ:mb entitled Outstanding 
Audit Issue No. 140 – Strategic Performance Framework Audit – Progress 
Report 4. 

 
C. THAT Outstanding Audit Issue 140 be moved to the Completed Audit Issues 

Register with the exception of item 4.1. 
 
At the Corporate & Economic Development Committee Meeting on 19 September 
2016 it was resolved:  
 
DECISION NO.21\4820 (19/09/16) 
 
Strategic Reporting 
Report No. 16TC0057 VG:ph (19/09/16)  Common No. 1230662 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16TC0057 VG:ph entitled Strategic Reporting, be 

received and noted. 
 
B. THAT the Committee note the revised quarterly report format is effective for 

the 2016/17 Municipal Plan reporting. 
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FRAMEWORK - FINAL REPORT 
 
 
At the Community & Cultural Services Committee Meeting on 20 September 2016 it 
was resolved:  
 
DECISION NO.21\4832 (20/09/19) 
 
Strategic Reporting 
Report No. 16TC0058 VG:ph  (20/09/19)  Common No. 1230662 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16TC0057 VG:ph entitled Strategic Reporting, be 

received and noted. 
 
B. THAT the Committee note the revised quarterly report format is effective for 

the 2016/17 Municipal Plan reporting 
 
At the Environment & Infrastructure Committee Meeting on 20 September 2016 it 
was resolved:  
 
DECISION NO.21\4848 (20/09/16) 
 
Strategic Reporting 
Report No. 16TC0059 VG:ph  (20/09/16)  Common No. 1230662 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16TC0057 VG:ph entitled Strategic Reporting, be 

received and noted. 
 
B. THAT the Committee note the revised quarterly report format is effective for 

the 2016/17 Municipal Plan reporting. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The City of Darwin annual internal audit program required Council to undertake an 
audit of its adopted Strategic Performance Framework during 2013. The final audit 
report was presented to the RMAC in November 2013. Moderate risk audit findings 
1.0 – 4.0 were placed on the Outstanding Audit Issues Register. 
 
Council worked with KPMG to ensure Outstanding Audit Issue 140 was addressed 
and current status of the Strategic Performance Framework reviewed.  
 
Item 4.1 - Based on area needs, CoD should develop a standard suite of 
reporting to be produced from Interplan 
 
Outstanding Action Item 4.1 was recommended based on duplication of reporting 
which existed across Council. Staff were producing Quarterly Team Update Reports 
in addition to reporting on a regular basis against the Municipal Plan. Council has for 
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FRAMEWORK - FINAL REPORT 
 
 
a number of years been utilising Interplan as its tool for reporting strategic 
performance. Item 4.1 recommended producing reports from Interplan on a quarterly 
basis, removing the need for current quarterly team update reports.    
 
In May 2016, the Risk Management and Audit Committee supported the 
implementation of Item 4.1. Council committees considered the matter in September 
and endorsed the move to a more strategically focussed quarterly report against the 
Annual Municipal Plan (produced from Interplan). 
 
The revised process will be implemented from the 2016/17 financial year with the 
first quarterly reports scheduled to be presented to Council Committees in November 
2016. 
 
This matter is now complete. 
 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
A report was presented to each Council Committee in September 2016 
recommending that the current quarterly reporting cease and that quarterly reporting 
against the Municipal Plan be put in place commencing the 2016/17 financial year.  
Council Committees have supported the recommendation which was subsequently 
endorsed by Council. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
Whilst there are not direct policy implications, implementation of the 
recommendations will contribute to continuous review and improvement of the City of 
Darwin Strategic Performance Framework.  
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
The change from Quarterly Team Update Reports to quarterly reporting against 
Municipal Plan will have a positive effect on resources by reducing the duplication of 
reporting requirements by staff.  
 
RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Legislative Implications  
The functions (s12) and objectives (s13) of the Local Government Act provide for 
Council to develop and implement a Strategic Planning / Performance Framework 
that suits its needs. 
 
(s22) requires Council to have a plan for its area which is to include the indicators for 
judging the standard of its performance. The City of Darwin is known as a municipal 
council and the plan is therefore referred to as the ‘Municipal Plan’. 
  

120

120



PAGE: 5 
REPORT NUMBER:  16TC0067 VG:ph 
SUBJECT:  OUTSTANDING AUDIT ISSUE NO. 140 - STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE 

FRAMEWORK - FINAL REPORT 
 
 
Risk Implications  
 
The risks associated with not responding to the recommendations in the Audit 
Report and staff discussions include: 
 
 Inability to develop robust and accountable planning and performance 

documents;  
 Legislative non-compliance; and 
 Organisational culture not aligned with strategic direction and performance 

reporting. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Nil 
 
COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VANESSA GREEN MARK BLACKBURN
MANAGER STRATEGY & 
OUTCOMES 

EXECUTIVE MANAGER

 
For enquiries, please contact Vanessa Green on 89300531 or email: 
v.green@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
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ENCL: 
YES 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE/OPEN 

AGENDA ITEM: 10.5 

FINES & INFRINGEMENTS PROCESSING SYSTEMS - INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

REPORT No.: 16A0105 SG:je  COMMON No.: 3304380 DATE: 28/10/2016

 
Approved: General Manager Corporate Services, Diana Leeder 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to advise the outcomes and actions of Fines & 
Infringements Processing Systems Internal Audit Report. This report outlines 
findings and recommendations in respect of the parking and other infringements 
process. 
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 
Outcome 
5.3 Good governance  
Key Strategies 
5.3.1 Demonstrate good corporate practice and ethical behaviour  
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 That Management continue to focus on advanced infringement technologies as a 

key initiative. 
 Prioritise the review of the overall current technologies in place and assess the 

cost benefit analysis of implementing broader technological advances. 
 Investigate the cost benefit analysis of implementing system controls to enforce 

dual authorisation for the removal of infringements. 
 Monitor training across all levels of staff to ensure all mandatory training is 

completed. 
 Review and update policy and procedural documents, ensuring they align to 

current practice annually. 
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REPORT NUMBER:  16A0105 SG:je 
SUBJECT:  FINES & INFRINGEMENTS PROCESSING SYSTEMS - INTERNAL AUDIT 

REPORT 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16A0105 SG:je entitled Fines & Infringements 

Processing Systems - Internal Audit Report, be received and noted. 
 
B. THAT recommendations ranked as “high priority” (4.1 & 4.2) as identified within 

Report Number 16A0105 SG:je entitled Fines & Infringements Processing 
Systems - Internal Audit Report be transferred to the Outstanding Audit Issues 
Register.  

 
C. THAT the recommendations ranked as “medium” and “low” priority in 

Attachments A to Report Number 16A0105 SG:je entitled Fines & 
Infringements Processing Systems - Internal Audit Report be addressed by 
management.  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The City of Darwin Council has engaged KPMG to conduct an internal audit project –
Infringements review in May 2016. The audit was to undertake an examination and 
assessment of the process efficiency, completeness and compliance with legislation 
in relation to the issuing, processing, managing objections to infringements and 
rescinding or waiving of infringements. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The overall objective of the audit was to review the system of internal controls and 
management processes providing reasonable assurance that adequate 
management controls exist to mitigate risk and maximise opportunity. 
 
The specific objectives of the audit were to: 
 
 Review and assess the controls over existing processes for the issuing, 

reviewing, monitoring and waiving of parking and other infringements. 
 Perform testing on a sample basis to ensure adequacy and effectiveness of key 

controls. 
 Assess whether policies, procedures and relevant legislation have been complied 

with and adhered to. 
 

Governance objectives, where relevant, were considered and included an 
assessment of whether governance processes were in place, including: 
 
 Defined roles and responsibilities. 
 Segregation of duties. 
 Appropriate levels of delegated authority. 
 Monitoring and reporting of abnormal activity. 
 Records management and documented audit trails. 
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REPORT 
 
 
Audit Scope and Approach  
The scope included expiation activities between June 2016 and July 2016. In 
performing this project, we undertook the following: 

 Interviews with staff managing parking, dog, and other infringements to gain 
an understanding of the end to end processes. 

 Analysis of documents including strategies, plans, policies, guidelines and 
reports. 

 Data analytics on selected data sets. 
 Review expiation notices to ensure it is issued within the relevant guidelines. 
 Review register of outstanding fines. 
 Review and agree with City of Darwin management any potential deliverables 

based on the identified improvement opportunities. 
 Prepare the assurance report summarising the results of work done and the 

agreed actions to address any control/process improvement areas identified. 
 
Summary of Opportunities to Improve 
The City of Darwin has a robust control environment over the governance of the 
infringement processes. This includes controls in Expiation Issuance and Evidence 
Collection, Expiation Review and Withdraw (Waive) all which mitigate risk.  
 
Section 4 of the report details the audit findings with the following agreed 
management actions to focus improvement activities. 
 
4.1 IT Systems 
In response to the key issues noted in this report for transitioning to advanced 
infringement technologies management responses are; 
 
Regulatory Services is currently investigating the broader technological advances 
from PinForceMobile to replace existing handhelds to assist Rangers in collecting 
greater amounts of digital evidence.  
 
The expected new CiAnywhere enterprise developments which embrace mobile 
devices and workflows as a key part of its solution will allow greater flexibility.  
 
Agreed Management Actions 
 

Responsibility 
 

Timing 
 

Prioritise the purchase of new 
hand-held devices. 
 

Manager Regulatory services 
Manager IT 
Supervisor Administration 

September - 
November 2016 
 

Investigate and incorporate 
broader technological benefits for 
the recording of data when 
updating the hand-held units 
currently being considered. 

Manager Regulatory services 
Manager IT 
 

September - 
November 2016 
 

Re-enforce the requirements for 
officers to maintain a notebook to 
a legal standard. 

Manager Regulatory services 
Regulatory Supervisors 
 

September - 
November 2016 
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REPORT 
 
 
4.2 Infringement Adjustments 
In response to the key issues noted in this report for the process of withdrawing and 
waiving infringements management responses are; 
 
Only Regulatory Services Administration staff have access in Authority to make 
withdrawals of infringements within this system. It is agreed that a full system 
process would ensure greater transparency and improved efficiency removing a 
manual process from the activity. 
 
A review of system capabilities is scheduled for early in the new year. 
 
Agreed Management Actions 
 

Responsibility 
 

Timing 
 

Reinforce the requirement to 
have a signed movement slip 
prior to any withdrawal of 
infringements. 

Manager Regulatory Services 
Supervisor Administration 
 

September - 
November 2016 
 

Investigate the opportunities for 
systems to include a dual 
authorisation process which 
would eliminate the movement 
slip process. 

Supervisor Administration 
Manager IT 

January 2017 

 
4.3 Learning and Development 
In response to the key issues noted in this report for the learning and development 
framework for staff. 
 
Supervisors have been working on improving the framework for training of officers 
with focus on the implementation of a 30:60:90 day training checklist for Rangers. 
While it is agreed that a consistent trainer is useful, obtaining working perspectives 
for engagement and safety are key to help officers develop their skills in the 
regulatory field.  
 
It is standard practice that a final sign-off procedure is undertaken before a trainee 
Ranger goes alone in the field. This is conducted by one of two nominated Senior 
Rangers who can provide this. Should a trainee not be considered skilled he is 
placed back in the field under the buddy system for a further period. 
 
Agreed Management Actions 
 

Responsibility 
 

Timing 
 

Develop a new induction training 
plan for all officers entering 
Regulatory Services. 

Regulatory Operations 
Supervisors 
Manager Regulatory Services 

November 2016 
- ongoing 

Develop a skill spreadsheet 
incorporating sign off completion 
by supervisors on core training 
competencies. 

Regulatory Operations 
Supervisors 
Manager Regulatory Services 

November 2016 
- ongoing 
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4.4 Policy and Procedure Framework 
In response to the key issues noted in this report for the review and update policy 
and procedural documents. 
 
Documents and procedures will be reviewed highlighting review dates and 
responsible officers to ensure the documents are updated in a timely manner. 
 
Agreed Management Actions 
 

Responsibility 
 

Timing 
 

Review and document 
infringement issuing process to 
utilise as a reference and training 
tool. 

Regulatory Operations 
Supervisor 
Manager Regulatory Services 

March 2017 

Identify a review date and 
responsible person for process 
reviews. 

Regulatory Operations 
Supervisor 
Manager Regulatory Services 

 

 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
This report was considered by the Executive Leadership Team on 5 September 
2016 and now referred to Risk Management & Audit Committee for consideration. 
 
In preparing this report, the following City of Darwin officers were consulted: 
 
 Manager Regulatory Services 
 Team Coordinator – Risk, Audit & Safety 
 Supervisor – Regulatory Services Supervisor 
 Supervisor – Regulatory Operations CBD Parking 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
The actions are in line with Council’s By-laws and general policies. 
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
There will be costs involved with the replacement of the current handheld. This 
remains under investigation utilising phone apps for PinForceMobile.  
 
RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The recommended management responses address the identified risks. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Nil 
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COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 DIANA LEEDER
 GENERAL MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES
 
For enquiries, please contact Diana Leeder on 8930 0539 or email: 
d.leeder@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment A: Draft Fines & Infringements Processing Systems Internal Audit 

Report 
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ENCL: 
YES 

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE/OPEN 

AGENDA ITEM: 10.6 

IT SECURITY INTERNAL AUDIT 

REPORT No.: 16A0123 RI:je  COMMON No.: 1437519 DATE: 28/10/2016

 
Presenter: Manager IT, Richard Iap  
 
Approved: General Manager Corporate Services, Diana Leeder 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to present the findings of Council’s Information 
Technology Internal Security Audit.  
 
LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The issues addressed in this Report are in accordance with the following 
Goals/Strategies of the City of Darwin 2012 – 2016 as outlined in the ‘Evolving 
Darwin Towards 2020 Strategic Plan’:- 
 
Goal 
5 Effective and Responsible Governance 
Outcome 
5.3 Good governance 
Key Strategies 
5.3.3 Understand and manage Council’s risk exposure 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
 Council is increasingly dependent on Information Technology to deliver services 

to the community.  
 The internal audit was particularly focused on assessing specific internal controls 

relating to information technology, security and access management, as identified 
by management within the Council’s operational risk register. 

 There were thirteen keys findings including twelve that require improvement to 
current practices.  

 Council will need to invest in new security based systems and improve overall 
staff IT security awareness.  
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REPORT NUMBER:  16A0123 RI:je 
SUBJECT:  IT SECURITY INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
THAT the Committee resolve under delegated authority:- 
 
A. THAT Report Number 16A0123 RI:je entitled IT Security Internal Audit, be 

received and noted. 
 
B. THAT recommendations ranked as “high priority” (items 1 to 7) outlined within 

the executive summary in Attachment A to Report Number 16A0123 RI:je 
entitled IT Security Internal Audit be transferred to the Outstanding Audit Issues 
Register.  

 
C. THAT the recommendations ranked as “medium” and “low” priority (items 8 to 

13) outlined within the executive summary in Attachment A to Report Number 
16A0123 RI:je entitled IT Security Internal Audit be addressed by management.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
Deloitte has undertaken an internal audit over selected IT security controls within the 
City of Darwin. Council is increasingly depending on information technology to 
deliver services to its community and effective information technology security is 
essential in protecting the Council and the public. This includes protecting the 
integrity of systems, confidentiality of information and resilience of services.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The internal audit was conducted by Deloitte and was particularly focused on 
assessing specific internal controls relating to information technology, security and 
access management, as identified by management within the Council’s operational 
risk register. 
 
This internal audit has addressed the following areas of controls: 
 Examination of physical and logical controls over access to City of Darwin IT 

systems, including network drives, internet, intranet, remote access, back up 
procedures, and continuity/recovery planning. 

 Review and comment on the strength of the Council’s computer usage, e-mail, 
and internet access policies. 

 Interviews with a small number of Council staff members to gauge the level of 
understanding and awareness around information, including general IT security 
principles, responsibilities, password controls, and data sharing. 

 
The audit acknowledged that Council, through its Information Technology section, 
has key security controls and systems in place including but not limited to:  
 Implementation of antivirus and internet filtering technology. 
 Network segregation from the public library network. 
 Preventative security controls at the network perimeter. 
 Local redundancy of IT infrastructure and virtualisation to increase systems 

resiliency. 
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Improvements to identified gaps and areas of key risks include: 
 The approach to governing information security and technology risk is at times 

informal. There is also limited planning in place for the technology initiatives and 
related information security requirements that will be needed to deliver on the 
Digital Strategy. 

 Council’s staff information security education and awareness activities are limited 
and ad-hoc in nature. Education and awareness is regarded as one of the most 
important and cost effective control strategies to reduce the possibility of security 
incidents within an organisation. 

 A range of key priority security controls for mitigating is a large proportion of 
cyber security threats are not in place, or are only implemented on an ad-hoc 
basis. This includes controls such as restriction of administrative privileges, 
formalisation of processes for conducting regular operating systems and 
application security patching, vulnerability management and whitelisting.  

 The current approach to network security is traditional and places significant 
reliance on network perimeter security.  

 Limited planning and capabilities exist to respond to security incidents, including 
a lack of formal business continuity and disaster recovery planning for key 
systems and infrastructure.  

 
Council agrees that an improvement to IT security awareness through training and 
knowledge sessions will provide the most comprehensive improvement to Council’s 
technology systems and information. During the past month two IT security incidents 
have occurred at Council, directly related to a lack of understanding of basic IT 
security practices. These incidents were identified early and the threat was halted 
with little impact on Council and IT systems. The IT section will work with People 
Culture and Capability, and the IT Strategic Leadership Team on appropriate 
information security training programs to be implemented through Council.  
 
There were thirteen key findings from the IT Security Audit. One has been completed 
and the remaining twelve have all been accepted by management. Several planned 
upgrades and new projects were in progress during this audit and have since been 
implemented. These include a new firewall (SonicWall), core network hardware 
upgrades and new threat detection and monitoring systems. New load balancing 
devices have also been upgraded providing enhanced security controls while 
providing better ROI for council.  
 
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
This report was considered by the Executive Leadership Team on 17 October 2016 
and now referred to Risk Management and Audit Committee for consideration. 
 
In preparing this report, the following City of Darwin officers were consulted: 
 
 General Manager Corporate Services  
 Manager Information Technology 
 System Administrator 
 Business System Administrator  
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PAGE: 4 
REPORT NUMBER:  16A0123 RI:je 
SUBJECT:  IT SECURITY INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
 
In preparing this report, the following External Parties were consulted: 
 
 Deloitte 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
Council policies in regards to areas of IT Security and Information Management will 
be reviewed as part of the implementation of the audit’s recommendations. 
 
BUDGET AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
Council budgets and resource needs will be reviewed as part of the implementation 
of the IT Security Audit’s recommendations. 
 
RISK/LEGAL/LEGISLATIVE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Relevant risk levels for each finding are detailed within the audit report. High-risk 
items will be referred to the Outstanding Audit Issues Register.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Nil 
 
COUNCIL OFFICER CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 
 
We the Author and Approving Officers declare that we do not have a Conflict of 
Interest in relation to this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RICHARD IAP  DIANA LEEDER
MANAGER IT GENERAL MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES
 
For enquiries, please contact Richard Iap on 8930 0611 or email: 
r.iap@darwin.nt.gov.au. 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment A: Information Technology Security Internal Audit 
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/5

Risk Management & Audit Committee Meeting – Friday, 28 October 2016 

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/5 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 89300 0539. 

11. INFORMATION ITEMS

11.1 Outstanding Audit Issues Register 
(28/10/16)  Common No. 422690 

The Outstanding Audit Issues Register is Attachment A. 
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OPEN SECTION RMAC10/5 

Risk Management & Audit Committee Meeting – Friday, 28 October 2016 
 
 

  

 Friday, 28 October 2016 RMAC10/5 

Reports, recommendations and supporting documentation can be accessed via the City of Darwin Council Website 
at www.darwin.nt.gov.au, or contact Corporate Services on (08) 89300 0539. 

12. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
12.1 Meeting Dates for 2017 

Common No. 2659589 
 
THAT the committee resolve under delegated authority:-  
 
THAT the following dates be set for the Risk Management & Audit Committee 
meeting in 2017:  
 

 Friday, 31 March 2017 
 Friday, 26 May 2017 
 Friday, 07 July 2017 
 Friday, 27 October 2017  

 
 
 
13. CLOSURE OF MEETING 
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